

# WAYS TO USE YOUR

OSCILLOSCOPE

By Albert C. W. Saunders

**World Radio History** 

# **99** WAYS TO USE YOUR OSCILLOSCOPE

By Albert C. W. Saunders



World Radio History

#### **FIRST EDITION**

#### FIRST PRINTING-NOVEMBER 1968 SECOND PRINTING-JUNE 1969 THIRD PRINTING-MAY 1973 FOURTH PRINTING-APRIL 1977

Copyright © 1968 by TAB BOOKS

#### Printed in the United States of America

Reproduction or publication of the content in any manner, without express permission of the publisher, is prohibited. No liability is assumed with respect to the use of the information herein.

International Standard Book No. 0-8306-7483-7

Library of Congress Card Number: 68-56094

## Preface

The oscilloscope is an extremely versatile instrument, limited in what it will do only by the user's understanding of its operation. WhileI have not devoted any of the content to basic fundamentals of scope operation (my previous book, "Working with the Oscilloscope," contains this information), you will find within these pages many worthwhile and unique uses for the oscilloscope—including circuit troubleshooting, receiver alignment, and test procedures—particularly in the realm of new circuits, innovations, and semiconductor devices. Many applications deal with TV circuits, especially color. Actually, the information presented here should help the serious technician or user become increasingly efficient in oscilloscope operation, suggesting numerous additional methods of adapting the instrument's versatility to his everyday tasks.

More and more, as the state of the art develops, the oscilloscope is becoming a necessary and mandatory piece of servicing gear. It gives the user eyes to "see" what's going on in complex circuitry, helping him to reduce even the most intricate devices to their basic circuits and facilitate the diagnosis of component malfunctions. The oscilloscope, in conjunction with a signal generator or signal source, provides an ideal means of performing overall circuit checks. By applying the test signal to the input and connecting the oscilloscope to the output you can immediately assess the condition of any piece of equipment. Then, by using a simple process of elimination, you can trace the trouble to a specific section, circuit, and component. The waveform contour—its amplitude, frequency, and phase—presents a wealth of information to the technician, if he knows what he <u>should</u> see! And that's the entire purpose of this book—to help you learn how to use the oscilloscope and how to interpret what you see displayed on the screen.

A. C. W. Saunders

## CONTENTS

	Introduction	9
1	Calibration and the Graticule	14
2	Calibrating the Oscilloscope with an AC Voltmeter	16
3	Checking Frequency Response Using a Square Wave	18
4	Inexpensive Voltage Calibrator	20
5	Checking Datum Line for Zero Reference	22
6	Pertinent Waveform Polarity Data	24
7	Determining Frequency with Lissajous Figures	26
8	Calibrating the Time Base	28
9	Measuring Inductance (L) and Inductive Reactance (XL)	30
10	Zener Diode Curve Tracer	32
11	Tunnel Diode Curve Tracer	34
12	PNP Transistor Curve Tracer	36
13	NPN Transistor Curve Tracer	38
14	PNP Power Transistor Curve Tracer	39
15	NPN Power Transistor Curve Tracer	40
16	IC Mixer Stage Tests	42
17	Measuring Collector Current and Voltage	44
18	Checking Class-A Transistor Amplifiers	46
19	Checking Class-B Transistor Amplifiers	48
20	Stereo Amplifier Checks	50
21	Testing Audio Bypass Capacitors	52
22	Checking the Oscilloscope for Phase Shift	54
23	Checking Detector Diodes	. 56
24	Power Rectifier Tests	58

25	Simple Phase Shift Circuit60
26	Comparing Square Wave Rise and Fall Time
27	Transistorized Power Supply Waveforms
28	Transistorized Power Supply with Separate Bias Coils66
29	Intensity Modulation
30	Circular Trace Applications
31	Matching Capacitors
32	Checking Transistors for Noise
33	Paraphase Amplifier
34	Measuring Audio Amplifier Gain
35	Dual Trace Using an Electronic Switch
36	Triple Trace Using Two Electronic Switches
37	Limiter Circuit Tests
38	Checking Clamp Circuits
39	Clamping Below Zero Reference
40	Decreasing the Time Constant of Coupling and Its Effect. 89
41	Detecting Hum Modulation
42	Hysteresis Loop: Single Coll
43	Hysteresis Loop: Transformer
44	Step Counter Measurements
<b>45</b>	46-47 Transistor Amplifier Types and Characteristics 96
48	Checking Audio Amplifier Overload
49	Checking Frequency Response Using a Square Wave
50	Checking Bandpass Amplifiers 101
51	Color TV 3.58-MHz Oscillator Checks
52	Horizontal Blanking Pulse (Color TV)
53	Checking R-Y, B-Y, and G-Y Signals.
54	DC Restorer 108
55	Calibrating a DC Oscilloscope

#### World Radio History

56 Electrostatic Deflection Tests	112
57 Electromagnetic Deflection Wave	forms 114
58 Vertical Oscillator Waveforms	
59 Vertical Deflection Coil	118
60 Horizontal/Vertical Convergence	Current Waveforms 120
61 Horizontal Deflection Current Wa	121
62 Video Amplifier: Split Video Sign	al122
63 Checking Video Amplifier Gain	
64 Video Amplifier: Poor Low-Frequ	ency Response 126
65 Noise Inverter Circuits	
66 Checking Sweep and Marker Ge	nerators 130
67 Blanking Amplifier Waveforms	132
68 Vertical Blanking Pulse	
69 Checking Horizontal Phase Detect	tor 136
70 Sync Clipper	
71 Last IF Amplifier Response Curv	/e (Solid-State) 140
72 Last IF Amplifier Response Curr	/e (Vacuum Tube) 142
73 Overall IF Amplifier Sweep Align	144 ment
74 Sound Detector Alignment (4.5	MHz) 146
75 Keyed AGC Waveforms	
76-77-78 Horizontal Sync System	<b>\$</b> 150
79 Distribution of Burst and Chrom	inance Signals 151
80 Color Gating Pulse	
81 Flyback Transformer Pulse Coil	Waveforms 154
82 Color TV Alignment Notes	
83 TV Tuner Response Curves	
84 Photoelectric Phase Control Cur	<b>VCS</b> 160
85 Unijunction Transistor Tests	
86 Transistorized "RC" Circuit Ch	ecks 164

#### World Radio History

87	Trigger Generator Waveforms	166
88	Superlinear Sawtooth Generator Waveforms	168
89	Pulse Delay Control Measurements	170
90	Step Generator Waveforms	172
91	Tunnel Diode Oscillator Checks	174
92	Full-Wave Phase Control Checks	176
93	Modified Halfwave SCR Control Waveforms	178
94	Triangular Wave Generator Tests	180
95	Tunnel Diode Multivibrator Waveforms	182
96	Transistorized Phase Shift Circuit Measurements	184
97	Sine-to-Square Wave Converter Waveforms	186
98	Cascode Multivibrator Checks	188
99	Series-Connected Schmitt Trigger Tests	190

### Introduction

The capabilities and limitations of an oscilloscope generally depend on the vertical amplifier characteristics. If usable up to 500 kHz it is considered "narrow band" and up to 4 MHz or higher it is wideband. These ratings are acceptable regardless of sweep oscillator range. Thyratron oscillators usually are limited to 30 kHz; however, conventional sawtooth multivibrators are very popular and provide higher linear sweep rates. For example, a sweep rate of 400 kHz will display a single cycle of a 400 kHz signal. Higher sweeps are obtainable, and some oscilloscopes have a 5-to-1 sweep expansion circuit (see Diagram A); therefore, if a 5-cycle display is the limit for a particular sweep, switching to expansion will produce a single cycle. This is a welcome addition in some critical tests.

Another good feature is the convenience of selecting AC or DC vertical and/or horizontal amplifiers. This feature alone offers many advantages, including the elimination of a phase shift existing between the two amplifiers and improved vertical amplifier low-frequency response. The waveforms shown in Diagrams B and C are actual photographs of 3.58-MHz signals displayed on a wideband oscilloscope. Oscillogram B shows two damped waved trains, the first representing a low Q circuit and the second a high Q circuit. This display was produced by shock existing a bandpass amplifier (color TV) with a flyback pulse. It displays the effect of ringing while the tube was cut off (high Q) and conducting (low Q). To obtain distinct peaks it was necessary to carefully adjust the intensity and focus controls. Stability of the pattern was excellent for time exposure with a regular 35mm camera. Oscillogram C shows the two 50-volt 3.58-MHz color subcarriers in quadrature for reinsertion at the color demodulators. For this display a dual trace oscilloscope was used (with a built-in electronic switch).

#### **Probes**

A probe cable is used as a means of coupling the signal to be observed to the vertical input of the oscilloscope. It must be designed for good transfer characteristics. A description of the three most commonly used probes follow:

DIRECT PROBE: Most direct probes contain a medium shunt capacitance and are suitable for testing low-impedance cir-



5 to 1 horizontal expansion



Damped waves from shock excited 3.58 MHz amplifier.



Two - 3.58 MHz color subcarriers in quadrature. Electronic switch.

cuits such as audio waveforms in both vacuum tube and transistor equipment. A good rule to follow when testing equipmentis: "The impedance of the testing device must be at least ten times greater than the circuit it shunts." The greater the better, but a 10-to-1 ratio does not affect the constants of the circuit under test.

LOW-CAPACITY PROBE: A low-capacity probe is used for observing waveforms across high-impedance circuits and it is practically a must in must TV circuits. The probe consists of a megohm series resistor shunted by a 5 pfd to 25 pfd variable capacitor and terminated by a 100K resistor. This gives the probe an attenuation ratio of 10 to 1, which is designed to operate in conjunction with the oscilloscope decade step attenuator. The probe is permanently calibrated by applying a 10kHz square wave and adjusting the small capacitor in the probe until a good square wave is displayed. A probe of this type should NOT be used on potentials higher than 500 volts.

DEMODULATION PROBE: Sometimes referred to as a wandering detector, a demodulation probe is used chiefly in checking RF, IF, and FM tuned circuits to observe a response curve from a sweep generator. The response of a single stage, or two or more in cascade, may be checked with a



TWO FILAMENT TRANSFORMERS..

demodulator probe. It may also be used on RF and IF amplitude-modulated signals to observe the audio or video component in signal tracing. (For viewing the waveforms at the output of the horizontal output and the input of the HV rectifier the author has suggested two proximity tests in the TV section.)

#### Safeguarding Personnel and Equipment

Certain precautions must be observed when setting up test equipment with AC/DC operated units. Usually, one side of the power line is grounded in such equipment; therefore, it is a good practice in any type of test to use an isolation transformer with a wattage rating adequate to handle the load. See Diagram D. By operating without such protection in any test there is a possibility of the grounded side of the line making contact with the HOT side by cross connection of test leads or chassis touching chassis, thus causing a short circuit or possible damage.

As an expedient, two filament transformers connected as shown in Diagram E serve as an ideal isolation transformer, since it offers double isolation. However, the wattage rating of both transformers must be capable of handling the load. Just connect it as shown in the diagram; no phasing is necessary. The ground terminals of an oscilloscope are common to its housing; therefore, care must be exercised when checking waveforms where ground is not a reference point. Metal benches should have a good masonite cover with or without isolation transformers.

#### **Pertinent Points**

The ground terminals of both vertical and horizontal inputs are common to one another and either one may be used for ground purposes. The terminals also are common to the oscilloscope housing, and care should be taken when checking voltages and waveforms where ground is not used as a reference point; for example, checking across any one of the deflection coils in a TV receiver. Under these test conditions the oscilloscope housing is charged to approximately 300 volts. It is advisable to use a DC blocking capacitor in the ground lead.

When using the high-sensitivity ranges it is a good practice to use a well shielded probe and cable. A shield cover over the terminals is sometimes necessary in noisy locations. Connector cables that automatically ground the shield lead are considered ideal for high-impedance tests. The manufacturer specifies the maximum allowable potential that be applied to the vertical amplifier input. This precaution should be observed at all times! Potentials higher than those specified may be checked by using an attenuator probe, available in 10-to-1 and 100-to-1 ratios, designed to operate in conjunction with the vertical amplifier decade attenuator. Care must be exercised when checking a TV flyback transformer. Direct contact with conventional instruments should NOT be made at the plate of the horizontal output tube or the high-voltage rectifier. Capacity voltage dividers are practical but not always convenient. In preparing for tests in the HV section always switch off the power.

All RF signal generators, whether CW, modulated, or sweep, should be terminated with an appropriate carbon resistor. For the correct value consult the manufacturer's operating manual.

## **Calibration and the Graticule**

Oscilloscopes designed for general service work are usually provided with a built-in voltage source for calibration purposes, such as a "one-volt" peak-to-peak test signal. The more expensive instruments have a calibrated step attenuator for both vertical and horizontal amplifiers and a graticule that divides both the vertical and horizontal axes into centimeters. See Fig. 1. Notice that the vertical sensitivity control is calibrated in steps from .01 volt/cm to 10 volt/cm. The horizontal sweep attenuator is calibrated in 15 steps from  $5 \mu \sec/$ 





cm to 200 millisec/cm. The same control also provides for external horizontal sweep "horiz sens" which is calibrated in three steps from .1 volt/cm to 10 volt/cm.

Both axes also may be calibrated to measure current, frequency, and angular degrees. A provision also is made for expanding the horizontal trace to measure very small fractions of the practical unit—for example, measuring time in "nano seconds." These calibration procedures are discussed in the following pages. An additional feature, if not already provided, is a low-voltage source terminal on the control panel;



## CALIBRATED ATTENUATORS

#### FIG. I

besides serving as a test signal it may be used for 60-Hz line sync. A 60-Hz test signal may be tapped from one side of the 6.3-volt filament circuit and connected through a large enough capacitor to the panel terminal.

2

# Calibrating the Oscilloscope with an AC Voltmeter

An oscilloscope without a built-in test signal may be calibrated by using a known voltage. The circuit in Fig. 2 will provide such a signal.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Filament transformer (6.3v) AC voltmeter 3K potentiometer

Shunt the 6.3-volt transformer secondary with the 3K potentiometer and the AC voltmeter as shown in Fig. 2. Switch the sync selector to "line sync." Turn the horizontal gain control to zero and adjust the vertical gain control to produce a vertical trace. Adjust the potentiometer to 6 volts and the vertical gain control to provide a 3-inch trace. This represents 6 volts RMS; therefore, the calibration is 2v/inch RMS. Without changing the vertical gain control setting, proceed to measure the unknown value. If the unknown voltage shows a 2-inch trace this represents 4 volts RMS. To find peak and peak-to-peak values, use the following equations:

 $P = RMS \times 1.414$ 

 $P/P = RMS \times 1.414 \times 2$ 

Instead of using the straight line vertical trace, turn up the horizontal gain and view a complete cycle. See Diagram A (horizontal sweep rate 60 Hz).



3

# Checking Frequency Response Using a Square Wave

The waveform shape observed on the screen is no better than the oscilloscope's ability to reproduce it; for example, the waveform applied to the vertical amplifier may be a near perfect square wave, but due to some malfunction in the oscilloscope or signal generator output connection, the waveform may consist of curves, tilts, or other distorted features. Considering these possibilities a square-wave test should be the first step in any test procedure. It is possible also that the oscilloscope is operating efficiently, but the square-wave generator is at fault.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope, low-capacity probe Square-wave generator

Connect the equipment as shown Fig. 3. Tune the squarewave generator to 50 Hz and adjust the oscilloscope sweep rate to display three or four cycles. In this test the waveform may show a slight tilt, top and bottom. This is more pronounced when the generator is tuned to 30 Hz, but at 50 kHz some curvature in the rise and fall on the leading and trailing edges will appear. At 500 kHz the curvature will be very pronounced (see the oscillograms in Fig. 3). A good square wave contains the 100th harmonic of its fundamental. For example, if a good square wave is produced at 1 kHz then the response of the oscilloscope is flat to a sine wave response of 10,000 cycles (10 kHz). The repetition rate of the square wave is the first harmonic. Rise time of the leading edge is measured from 10% to 90%. On wideband oscilloscopes fairly good square waveforms may be obtained up to the MHz range.



FIG. 3

Leading & trailing edges are not visible due to rapid trace

## 4 Inexpensive Voltage Calibrator

An inexpensive 6-volt peak-to-peak standard for calibrating an oscilloscope is shown in Fig. 4. It consists of a simple transistor amplifier that requires a one-volt peak-to-peak signal from an audio signal generator or equivalent.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Audio generator Test circuit

Connect the equipment as shown in Fig. 4 and tune the audio signal generator to about 100 Hz. Adjust the oscilloscope sweep rate to display a few cycles. Turn up the generator volume control until pulses appear at the collector; advance the volume control further until the pulses reach the maximum peak. It will require about a 1-volt peak-to-peak sine wave. This may be checked at the generator output. The transistor operates as a switch and converts the battery potential into 6-volt peak-to-peak pulses which are used for calibration purposes. The amplifier is designed to reach saturation and cutoff rapidly. The accompanying oscillogram is a dual trace showing the input sine wave and the output pulses simultaneously.





## 5

### **Checking Datum Line for Zero Reference**

When measuring the peak voltage of sine and nonsinusoidal waveforms it is necessary to establish a zero-voltage reference or datum line. The following suggests a convenient method of periodcially checking the base line during measurements.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Audio signal generator

When a signal is applied to the vertical input the horizontal reference line disappears and the printed line on the graticule is used as a zero reference for peak measurements. However, a periodic check should be made to make sure that the horizontal sweep has not drifted up or down. One way is to remove the input signal, which is not always convenient and it is time consuming. It is NOT good practice to short-circuit the input terminals: therefore, another means must be devised. A convenient method is to install a push-button switch (pushto-open) in series with the vertical test lead. See Fig. 5. Some shops have incorporated this switch on the oscilloscope control panel located near the vertical input terminal. When the switch is depressed it disconnects the signal and the horizontal reference line appears, enabling the technician to check its position. And by pushing the button in rapid succession the signal and its zero voltage reference seem to appear simultaneously. Checking the datum line is very important when DC oscilloscopes are used. In any case a 10-minute warmup period is recommended.



Measuring the peak to peak voltage of the sawtooth portion of a trapezoidal waveform





## Pertinent Waveform Polarity Data

The vertical trace of an oscilloscope conforms with the polarity of a sine wave and a square wave; i.e., POSITIVE-GOING up trace, and NEGATIVE-GOING—down trace. See Diagram A. The waveform contains information regarding cutoff and saturation of a vacuum tube or transistor stage. A study of the collector waveform of the NPN transistor stage in Fig. 6 shows that as the collector current increases, the collector voltage decreases and is displayed as a "negative-going" or downward trace. Therefore, the negative peaks indicate maximum conduction or saturation. See Oscillogram 2 - Q2.



When the collector current decreases, the collector voltage rises and is displayed as a "positive-going" or upward trace, in this case the positive peaks indicate cutoff. Notice the duration of each alternate pulse reveals that the transistor conducts for a short time and is cutoff for a longer period. Using a calibrated graticule it is possible to measure the time periods of cutoff and conduction. The base waveform of Q1 (Oscillogram 1) also conforms with this timing. The discharge curve of capacitor C1 falls from maximum positive to zero during the period Q1 is cutoff since it is a PNP. A further study reveals that Q1 and Q2 cutoff and conduct simultaneously.



# Determining Frequency with Lissajous Figures

Quite often it is necessary to measure an unknown frequency, and Lissajous patterns offer a simple method of determining frequency by comparison with a known standard. A simple introduction to this technique is the use of the 60-Hz line frequency as a standard to check the low-frequency range of an audio generator. Although the reference is fixed at 60 Hz it will serve to introduce the significance of Lissajous patterns.



## **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Audio signal generator Filament transformer (6.3v)

Connect the 60-Hz test signal (or alternate 6.3-volt circuit) to the horizontal input of the oscilloscope and the output of the





fy/fx = 1/2 (pattern revolving)



fy/fx = 2/1 (pattern revolving)





fy/fx = 3/2 (pattern revolving)

audio oscillator to the vertical input. See Fig. 7. Turn sweep rate selector to "horiz amp" and adjust the gain control to produce about a 3-inch sweep. Turn the audio oscillator to 60 Hz and adjust the vertical gain control to produce a line that slants  $45^{\circ}$ . The pattern will be revolving on two axes due to phase shift. This is to be expected since no sync voltages are involved. Hence the pattern will shift from a slanting line to an ellipse and then to a circle. When this condition exists the vertical frequency (fy) is equal to the horizontal frequency (fx), or fy = fx. Tune the oscillator to 90 Hz, producing a ratio (fy/ fx) or 90/60 or 3 to 2. The oscillograms show several ratios.

# 8

## **Calibrating the Time Base**

To measure time, some provision must be made to calibrate the horizontal sweep. Here is a simple, but effective, method.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Audio signal generator

Connect the signal generator output to the oscilloscope vertical input terminals. Tune the signal generator to 1 kHz and adjust sweep frequency and horizontal gain to display one cycle as illustrated in Fig. 8. Notice that the cycle engages 10 horizontal divisions, which represents 1000 microseconds or 100 microseconds per division. The chart indicates the time period per cycle for several frequencies. If absolute accuracy is necessary, the frequency used for calibration must be crystal controlled. A slight plus or minus frequency shift due to heat can be tolerated. A very good low-frequency standard is the 60-Hz line frequency, where one cycle engaging 10 divisions represents a time base of 1/60 of a second. A 6.3-volt filament transformer, connected to the oscilloscope vertical input, offers a calibration voltage source.



SIGNAL	TIME PER CYCLE
1 KHZ	1000 microseconds.
10 KHz	100 microseconds.
100 KHZ	10 microseconds.
1 MHZ	1 microsecond.

# Measuring Inductance (L) and Inductive Reactance (XL)

Let us assume that both L and  $X_{L}$  of a particular coil are unknown. We must, of course, determine  $X_{L}$  at some particular frequency, and this can be accomplished by using a relatively low AC voltage source such as a 1-kHz signal from an audio generator. Fig. 9 shows the use of a 60-Hz low-voltage source, as an example.

## Procedure

#### Equipment Required:

Oscilloscope DPDT switch Audio signal generator

Connect test circuit as shown in Fig. 9. Switch to position  $X_{L}$ . Adjust the oscilloscope display to two cycles with a vertical deflection of four divisions. Switch to position R and adjust the series resistor to obtain the same vertical deflection. Switch back and forth from  $X_{L}$  to R and readjust until both patterns are equal in height. Measure the active portion of R with an ohmmeter. Since R and  $X_{L}$  have the same AC voltage drop, the ohms measured across R will be the same for  $X_{L}$ . Since  $X_{L}$  is equal to  $2 \pi fL$  we can transpose the equation to find the value of L. Assume that  $X_{L}$  is 1000 ohms and the frequency is 1 kHz. Then:

L =  $\frac{X_{L}}{2\pi f}$  =  $\frac{1000}{6280}$  = .16 henry (Approx.)



World Radio History

10

## Zener Diode Curve Tracer

Increasing the reverse bias potential beyond the specified rating causes a Zener diode to breakdown and conduct heavily; a further increase beyond this point causes the diode current to increase while the voltage drop across the diode remains constant at the specified potential. To facilitate the test a 20-volt 1-watt Zener diode was selected and connected as shown in Fig. 10. A 6-watt 117-volt lamp is used for protection against accidental short circuit and a 10K resistor for current limiting.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope (adjusted to 10 volts per division horizontally) 20-volt 1-watt Zener diode Curve tracing adapter

Set up the test as shown in Fig. 10. Do not apply AC power until later. Rotate vertical and horizontal gain controls fully counterclockwise to produce a spot and adjust the positioning controls so that the spot is at dead center on the graticule. This position represents <u>zero volts</u> on both axes. Apply AC to the tracer circuit and turn up both gain controls so that the display is similar to the oscillogram. Notice that at right of center the horizontal sweep traverses two divisions and traces vertically. This indicates a breakdown of the reverse bias when it reaches 20 volts (2 divisions). At this point the diode conducts heavily, controlled only by the 10K resistor. Left of center represents the forward bias direction; notice here that in this direction the diode conducts during the positive halfwave swing of the applied cycle indicated by the vertical deflection.



#### **Tunnel Diode Curve Tracer**

A forward or reverse bias of less than 50 millivolts will cause a tunnel diode to conduct in either direction. This is, of course, contrary to the characteristics of a conventional diode; however, in the forward-bias direction the diode current increases and then decreases despite an increase of forward bias. This negative resistance characteristic is the important feature of the tunnel diode. However, a further increase of forward bias above 300 millivolts (for germanium) will cause the diode current to increase (see Diagram A). The dotted line represents a conventional diode.

Despite the bi-directional characteristic, the diode does exhibit a negative resistance in the forward-bias direction. Testing a conventional diode with an ohmmeter to determine its forward and reverse resistance ratio is both simple and expedient, since a 10-to-1 ratio indicates a good diode. However, the ohmmeter test MUST NOT BE USED ON TUNNEL DIODES. First, the diode conducts equally in both directions and a resistance test serves no useful purpose. Second, damage to the diode can result, especially on a low resistance (high current) range of the ohmmeter. It is the dip in the characteristic curve that determines whether the diode is normal or defective.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Curve tracer circuit

Connect the oscilloscope to the curve tracer as illustrated in Fig. 11 and adjust potentiometers R1 and R2 to produce a bal-anced curve as shown in the oscillogram.





Without

With diode D1




## 12 PNP Transistor Curve Tracer

In conjunction with an inexpensive test circuit the oscilloscope makes an excellent curve tracer for transistors. See Fig. 12. This arrangement permits the technician to see the transistor in action while varying the base current.

### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Test circuit

To obtain the characteristic curve, the collector voltage is made to sweep horizontally from zero to -8.5 volts peak. This is accomplished by rectifying the 6.3-volt (RMS) secondary voltage. Hence, the horizontal sweep represents the applied collector voltage which is automatically calibrated from zero to -8.5 volts at the end of the trace. The vertical trace represents the collector current flowing through the 100-ohm resistor in the collector circuit. This trace may be calibrated in volts per vertical division, making it possible to determine the collector current by Ohm's Law.

If by chance an NPN transistor is tested in this circuit it will display a horizontal line. Reverse the collector and emitter leads and it will display a curve similar to a normal diode. No damage will occur to the NPN unit, thus making the tester capable of indicating the difference between PNP and NPN. It is possible to reverse the leads (collector and emitter) when testing a PNP. If this should happen the curve will show very little gain and will remain like this regardless of the amount of base current applied. Remember this when replacing a transistor in a receiver and double check the lead locations.



EFFECT OF INCREASING BASE CURRENT

## NPN Transistor Curve Tracer

The curve tracer in Fig. 13 is similar to that used for PNP types, with the exception that the test polarities are reversed.



## 14 PNP Power Transistor Curve Tracer

The curve tracer shown in Fig. 14 is modified to accommodate a power transistor. Notice the 100-ohm collector resistor has



# 15 NPN Power Transistor Curve Tracer

Notice that these transistor curve tracer circuits are individual and not combined. This separate unit tester is simple to hook







Fig. 15A is a family of curves showing increases in collector current for successive increases in base current. Notice that a small increase in base current is followed by a large increase of collector current. This conforms with the gain or "beta" of the transistor under test. The grounded-emitter curves show the operating base bias for this family.

## IC Mixer Stage Tests

Diagram A in Fig. 16 is a schematic of a two-transistor package containing a PNP directly coupled to a NPN similar to the Darlington circuit. The overall benefit of this configuration is greater current amplification. Compare Oscillogram 2 with Oscillogram 1, the average for a single stage. Oscillo-



gram 2 was obtained using the NPN curve tracer; however, it was necessary to reverse the base bias battery for a PNP input. On a test signal with the necessary collector load the output is in phase with the input. Diagram B is a schematic of a differential amplifier consisting of three NPN transistors. Q1 and Q2 connected in differential amplifier configuration; Q3 is connected in series with the common-cathode connection. This stage is used for its constant-current characteristic and is referred to as a "heat sink." When a circuit is built around this package the base of Q3 is adjusted for a fixed base bias. This unit may be tested with the NPN curve circuit in Fig. 16. Two tests are required: one test for Q1 and another for Q2. When switched on the emitter of Q3 is commonto both Q1 and Q2. A 1.5-volt battery and a 150K resistor were connected in series and placed between terminals B3 and E; positive to B3 and negative to E. The package offers many types of circuit arrangements—differential amplifer, multivibrator, mixer for superheterodyne front ends, etc.



One of the many uses of the integrated differential amplifier is illustrated in Fig. 16A. The unit has a frequency range from DC to 250 MHz, ideal for superheterodyne communications receivers.

## **Measuring Collector Current and Voltage**

Designed primarily for evaluation, the circuit illustrated in Fig. 17 produces a collector current and voltage curve shown in Diagram A.

### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Curve tracer circuit

Connect the test circuit as shown in Fig. 17 and adjust vertical sensitivity to 1v/cm. Assume that the center of the curve is 3 centimeters above the zero reference, indicating 3 volts. This voltage is due to the collector current flowing through the 100-ohm resistor. Therefore:

$$I_c = \frac{E}{R} = \frac{3}{100} = 30$$
 milliamperes

Adjust the horizontal sweep control to 1v/cm and adjust the sweep to 6 centimeters. This will plot the collector voltage against the collector current. Current can be measured when the vertical sensitivity is calibrated and the resistor value (across which the voltage drop appears) is known.



DIAGRAM A



45

### **Checking Class-A Transistor Amplifiers**

The undistorted output of a Class A amplifier is dependent upon the operating base bias current. Assume a PNP stage where the bias current is too high. The positive peaks will distort before the negative peaks, and if the bias current is too low the negative peaks will distort before the positive peaks. In an NPN amplifier the polarity is reversed, of course. A simple check may be conducted to determine whether the bias current is too high or too low.

### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Sine-wave generator (audio)

Connect the equipment as shown in Fig. 18. Tune the signal generator to 500 Hz and adjust the oscilloscope sweep rate to display 3 cycles. Adjust the fine frequency control to display the three cycles—three positive peaks and two negative peaks as illustrated in Diagram A. Gradually increase the generator volume control until a slight distortion is observed. If both positive and negative peaks distort at the same time, the base bias is correct and the input signal is at the threshold of distortion. A further increase will cause the peaks to flatten (the flat tops should be equal in duration). Oscillograms 3, 4, and 5 indicate incorrect bias; therefore, the base current should be reduced slightly



# **19** Checking Class-B Transistor Amplifiers

Class B push-pull amplifiers are biased just above cutoff. This type of circuit is very popular in transistorized audio amplifiers because of its low drain during standby periods. However, due to poor collector current linearity at low signal levels, there is a pronounced distortion as the signal swings through zero, alternating from one stage to the other. To prevent this complete cutoff of collector current a small bias is applied.





incorrect bias

### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Sine-wave generator

Connect the audio signal generator to the input of the pushpull driver, or the primary of the input transformer if used. See Fig. 19. Tune the generator to 1 kHz and connect the oscilloscope vertical input across the voice coil. Adjust both generator and oscilloscope to display a few cycles. The sine waves displayed should be free from distortion (see Oscillogram 1). Now, short out the bias resistor with a jumper wire and note distortion. Keep the signal generator input low to prevent distortion.



## **Stereo Amplifier Checks**

The test setup in Fig. 20 shows a method for checking stereo channels. (With a dual trace oscilloscope or an electronic switch the two channels may be checked simultaneously).

### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Square-wave generator

Check the square-wave generator output directly with the oscilloscope before making this test. Then, connect the output of the square-wave generator (at low volume) to the input of one channel, and connect the oscilloscope vertical input across the voice coil of that channel. Bass and treble controls must be set the same on both channels; i.e., maximum bass,



World Radio History

maximum treble, and turn down the loudness control. Now observe the square-wave pattern at the output. If a fairly good square wave appears, then test the second channel and compare the two output waveforms. (The author ran this test with a dual trace oscilloscope and produced the oscillograms shown). It is advisable when conducting this test to check both bass and treble controls. Usually, a strong base will show ringing at top and bottom of square wave.



## 21 Testing Audio Bypass Capacitors

Primarily, bypass capacitors are intended to remove AC signals from DC circuits. Therefore, an open or intermittent bypass capacitor can be quickly located with an oscilloscope.

#### **Procedure**

**Equipment Required:** 

Oscilloscope Well-shielded direct probe Audio signal generator

A typical audio amplifier circuit is illustrated in Fig. 21. Connect the signal generator to position 1 and apply a 1000-Hz signal at very low volume. Check the signal at this position with the oscilloscope. Connect the probe to position 2 (output) and notice reasonable gain. Connect the probe to position 3 (cathode bypass capacitor) and turn up the vertical gain control to near maximum. If an appreciable audio signal is present at this point check the connections or replace the capacitor. A small amount of signal can be negative feedback and should not exceed more than 10% of the plate amplitude. Finally, connect the probe to position 4 (screen grid bypass capacitor). At this point there should be no evidence of signal present. In intermittent cases the capacitor under test should be probed with a wooden stick for loose connections or a defect.



FIG. 21

# Checking the Oscilloscope for Phase Shift

When measuring phase shift it is necessary to equalize vertical and horizontal traces, since the oscilloscope is being used as a vectorscope. This produces a diagonal line indicating zero phase shift between the vertical and horizontal amplifiers.

## **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Filament transforme r

Connect the test circuit as shown in Fig. 22. Turn the vertical gain control to zero, turn up the horizontal gain, and adjust the horizontal trace for three inches or so many divisions. Remove the horizontal input lead and turn up the vertical gain control to three inches or so many divisions. Do not touch the controls until test is finished. Reconnect lead to the horizontal input and observe a diagonal trace, an indication that both amplifiers are in phase. If the trace is elliptical it indicates the presence of a phase shift (see Oscillograms 1, 2, and 3). The amount of phase shift is proportional to the width of the ellipse. On DC oscilloscopes a phase shift is less likely because the amplifiers are direct coupled.



slight phase shift



FIG. 22



EXAMPLE

6



Indicates good diode.



Dual trace indicates phase shift between H and V amplifiers.

### 23 Checking Detector Diodes

The test circuit shown in Fig. 23 provides a fullwave lowpotential test for small diodes used in radio and television detector circuits. The voltage drop across R1 drives the diode and simulates a small AC signal. Diode current flows through R2, developing a voltage drop which is applied to the vertical input of the oscilloscope. The horizontal input is connected to the supply voltage as illustrated so that the curve is synchronized with the applied voltage.

### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Test circuit

Turn both vertical and horizontal gain controls counterclockwise and adjust intensity and focus controls to obtain a small





A—Shows a high forward to reverse current and indicates a good diode.

B—Indicates an open diode, however in this case check the test circuit connection before condemning the diode.

C-Indicates a partially or shorted diode.



F	IG.	23

spot. Adjust the positioning controls until the spot is dead center on the graticule. Turn up vertical and horizontal controls and note vertical deflection from center to right if diode is normal. Compare the curve with the oscillogram.

## **Power Rectifier Tests**

The voltage-current characteristics of a power rectifier can be observed by using the test circuit shown in Fig. 24. In this test the diode current develops a voltage drop across R1 which is applied to the vertical input of the oscilloscope, where vertical deflection indicates diode conduction for a half wave of the applied cycle. The flat portion indicates reverse bias.



SILICON POWER RECTIFIER CURVE Note abrupt switch from conducting to non- conducting.....

### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Diode test circuit

Connect the oscilloscope vertical input across R1 and the horizontal input to the anode of the diode under test. The curve displayed should be compared with the oscillogram showing normal operation. A 6-watt 117-volt lamp is connected in



FIG. 24

series with the applied voltage for protection against an accidental short circuit. The oscillogram pattern was obtained from a silicon power rectifier intended for replacement in a color TV receiver.

### Simple Phase Shift Circuit

The circuit shown in Fig. 25 is appropriate in many applications where phase control is necessary. It may be used as a phase corrector between two or more amplifiers.





### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Resistor—50K Capacitor—0.5 mfd

Turn both vertical and horizontal gain controls fully counterclockwise and adjust both positioning controls until the spot is centered on the screen. Assuming the traces have been equalized, turn up the gain controls, then vary R1 and notice that the phase shift increases to  $90^{\circ}$ . See the oscillograms.

## Comparing Square Wave Rise and Fall Time

A square-wave pattern may appear equal in rise and fall time, but this apparently ideal situation can be deceiving. In some laboratory tests it is necessary to know if any differences exist between the rise time of the leading edge and the fall time of the trailing edge.

### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope, low-capacity probe Square-wave generator Trimmer capacitor and 10K resistor

Connect the output of a square-wave generator to the RC circuit shown in Fig. 26 and the oscilloscope vertical input across the 10K resistor. Tune the generator to about 100 Hz. Adjust the trimmer for sharp peaks and observe the amplitudes of both the positive and negative pulses. If the positive pulse is greater than the negative pulse, then the rise time is faster than the fall time. (See the oscillograms in Diagram A.) Due to the rapid charge of the very small capacitor the amplitude is a good indication of rise time. Also, the rapid capacitor discharge indicates fall time. The trigger pulses are actually very thin and just visible; therefore, to capture a photograph the intensity control had to be advanced. Sometimes the leading and trailing edges are not visible on the oscilloscope; however, by advancing the intensity control they can be made visible.



# 27 Transistorized Power Supply Waveforms

A transistorized power supply has no moving parts, it is compact, and has an operating efficiency as high as 90%. With these advantages and exceptional performance this type of power supply is gradually replacing the vibrator and dynamotor systems.



## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Power supply components

The simple oscillator power supply shown in Fig. 27 uses two power transistors and is capable of converting a 1.5-volt battery source to 50 volts or higher, depending upon the transformer turns ratio. The extent of power output is governed by the specified wattage rating of the transistors and an efficient heat sink. On relatively large loads a storage battery would be required. The test procedure is shown in Fig. 27. Both collector and base waveforms must be identical for each stage; any departure from the normal waveform indicates a component malfunction.



# **Transistorized Power Supply** with Separate Bias Coils

An improved version of the transistorized power supply is shown in Fig. 28. The operating efficiency is improved by using a separate base feedback winding, and the improvement is noticeable in the collector waveform shown in the oscillograms in Diagram A. The base winding stepdown ratio is 20-to-1, and 20-ohm base resistor R2 forms a voltage di-

Collector waveforms



On load (resistive)







vider with R1, a control used to adjust the base current for normal operation while observing the collector waveform. The output voltage is 117 voltsAC, and it may be rectified by a voltage doubler to provide 360 volts DC. This, of course, would limit the output current to a few milliamperes. The circuits discussed are the basis for heavier duty regulated power supplies now available on the market.



FIG. 28

## **Intensity Modulation**

The X and Y axes of a cathode-ray tube are well known, but a third axis used for intensity modulation and designated the Z axis has not been discussed too often, despite its many useful applications. Some oscilloscopes are provided with a panel terminal for intensity modulation. If a terminal is not provided, refer to the manufacturer's operating manual regarding this procedure. However, intensity modulation simply explained is actually a pulse applied to the control grid or cathode of a cathode-ray tube-a negative pulse to the control grid or a positive pulse to the cathode. It is similar to modulating the cathode-ray beam of a TV receiver with a video signal. (In a TV receiver all three axes, X, Y, and Z are active). In laboratory procedures a signal is applied to either element mentioned above to produce a pattern of dashed lines or dots that have a particular significance in timing and other measurements. The system is also used to blank out retrace during flyback time in TV and oscilloscopes.

### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Square-wave generator

Tune the square-wave generator to a frequency several times higher than the sweep frequency. In order to produce precise time markers with decisive sharpness a square-wave or a series of pulses are required. However, in this procedure a 60-Hz sine wave is used. Connect the equipment as shown in Fig. 29 and adjust the oscilloscope to display a sine wave at 60 Hz. Gradually turn up the signal generator gain control



until breaks begin to appear in the sine wave (see Diagram A). Adjust the intensity control slowly until the pattern shows a dashed line. Reduce the vertical gain control to zero to display a dashed time base.

### 30 Circular Trace Applications

The bridge circuit shown in Fig. 30 provides a circular trace which offers many applications such as checking the oscilloscope for astigmatism (defocussing of the cathode-ray beam in certain outer screen areas). The trace also is used in intensity modulation for measuring frequency (see Diagram A).



DIAGRAM A

It is used also in radar since it encompasses  $360^{\circ}$ . Actually the circuit converts a  $360^{\circ}$  sine wave into a  $360^{\circ}$  circular trace. Notice the effect on the trace when the sine wave is distorted. The diagram illustrates the trace of the cathoderay beam when a sine wave is applied to the deflection plates of the oscilloscope.

World Radio History


# 31

# **Matching Capacitors**

Sometimes it is necessary to match capacitors for critical applications. If a capacitor tester is not available, an oscilloscope will do a precise job of matching capacitors.



#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope, direct probe Sine-wave generator Test circuit

Prepare the test circuit as shown in Fig. 31. Connect the ground terminal of the oscilloscope to the probe and the vertical input lead to the junction of the two capacitors. This is important to prevent pattern jitter. Connect a sine-wave generator to the input of the test circuit and tune it to 1 kHz (adjust sweep accordingly). Then probe with the ground lead at position 1 and position 2. If both capacitors are equal, the signal across each one will be the same amplitude. If

unequal then the larger amplitude will indicate the smaller capacitor. The ratio of the two amplitudes in volts will be equal to the ratio of the two capacitors in mfd, pfd, or whatever the size of the capacitors under test.



FIG. 31

# 32 Checking Transistors for Noise

A square wave is an excellent means of checking noise in a transistor amplifier, since any noise will appear as "hash" riding on the flat portions of the wave—especially the flat portion that occurs during heavy conduction. A test was conducted by the author on a transistor known to be noisy. A simple amplifier circuit was constructed for quick insertion of suspected transistors.

# Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope—well shielded probe Test circuit

Construct a test circuit as shown in Fig. 32 and insert the transistor to be tested. Connect the oscilloscope vertical input to the collector, leaving both input and output circuits open as illustrated. Adjust the vertical gain for maximum sensitivity. Some hash is permissible since the circuit and oscilloscope are operating wide open. Oscillogram 2 shows a very noisy transistor from a stereo circuit. Compare this



noise pattern with a comparable transistor that was the replacement (Oscillogram 1). To prevent misleading results, remove the circuit from the oscilloscope input terminal and observe "quiet," or noise if oscilloscope is defective.



FIG. 32

## Paraphase Amplifier

Push-pull amplifiers require two inputs of opposite phase which are usually obtained from a push-pull input transformer or in conjunction with a phase inverter stage. The paraphase amplifier circuit shown in Fig. 33 employs a split load that supplies a push-pull output from a single-ended input. (Notice this stage is a combined common-emitter and emitterfollower.) However, the two output signals must be equal and will require checking if distortion is present.



#### Procedure

Equipment required:

Oscilloscope Audio signal generator

When load resistors R3 and R4 are equal, the stage will provide a nearly balanced output. An unbalanced condition can occur by a change in the value of either R3 or R4. For example, a change in the collector load resistor can only affect the collector output, but a change in the emitter load resistor can affect both outputs due to negative feedback. Connect the signal generator output to the audio amplifier. Check the output at the collector and compare this signal with the signal appearing at the emitter. They should balance within 5%. Oscillogram 1 is the input signal, Oscillogram 2 the collector output signal, and Oscillogram 3 the emitter output signal. Notice the output signals are less than unity gain, actually measured at 99% of the input.



FIG. 33

#### 34 Measuring Audio Amplifier Gain

A convenient gain test is shown in Fig. 34.

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Audio signal generator

Connect the test equipment to the amplifier as shown in Fig. 34 and the oscilloscope probe to the signal generator output



(position 1). Keep generator output low. Set the sweep frequency to display three cycles and record the sine wave amplitude in divisions. Switch the vertical gain attenuator to the 10-to-1 position (x10) and connect the probe to the output of the generator (position 2). If the output signal amplitude is the same as the input, the gain of the amplifier is 10. If it is twice the amplitude the gain is 20, and so on. For example, if the input was adjusted for one volt per division, then the output would be 10 volts per division. If the oscilloscope is not equipped with a decade attenuator, then a 10-to-1 attenuator probe should be used. The oscillograms were taken from a dual trace oscilloscope (top trace is the input and the bottom trace is the output). Notice the phase inversion. The amplifier was a one-tube affair with a gain of 10 to 1, built especially for the test.



F1G. 34

# 35 Dual Trace Using an Electronic Switch

The electronic switch is actually a square-wave generator consisting of a variable-frequency multivibrator which alternately gates two independent amplifiers on and off. The input of each amplifier is connected to a terminal on the panel and designated "A" and "B" to accommodate two signals. Each signal in turn is switched alternately through its respective amplifier to a common output, which is connected to the vertical input of an oscilloscope. The rapid switching rate permits the two signals to be observed simultaneously. The balance control is used to position the two signals on the oscilloscope screen—signal A is above signal B, for example. During the reversing process A moves down and B moves up, and the two may be overlapped for comparison.

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Electronic switch

The output of the electronic switch is connected to the vertical input of the oscilloscope, which is adjusted to display square waves. Turn the gain controls on the electronic switch to zero and on the oscilloscope to obtain two parallel traces (see

Horizontal sweep frequency twice the vertical frequency Fig. 35). Then gradually turn up both gain controls (A and B) so that both signals may be evaluated. Since the output of the electronic switch contains the switching frequency it rules out the use "int sync"; therefore, switch the oscilloscope to "ext sync" and connect a lead from the "ext sync" post on the oscilloscope to either terminal A or B on the electronic switch.



World Radio History

# Triple Trace Using Two Electronic Switches

There are occasions when it is advantageous to view three signals simultaneously. This may be achieved by using two electronic switches as shown in Fig. 36. The two signals present in the output of the first switch are fed as one to the input of the second switch, and the third signal is fed to the second input on the second switch. With additional electronic switches more signals can be applied. However, the number of signals permissible for simultaneous viewing is limited by the area of the screen. Signals to be observed must be of the same frequency, and the oscilloscope external sync should be connected to signal 1 at the electronic switch input.





ILLUSTRATING THE USE OF TWO ELECTRONIC SWITCHES TO OBTAIN THREE TRACES THIS IS THE LIMIT FOR A GOOD DISPLAY ON A FIVE INCH SCREEN.

FIG. 36

# Limiter Circuit Tests

The oscilloscope is an excellent test instrument for checking limiter circuits. Sometimes referred to as "clippers," limiters are used as "waveshapers" in many types of electronic equipment. A limiter stage can be an overdriven triode, a series diode, or parallel diodes. See Fig. 37. They are used to remove positive or negative peaks as a rectifier or to cut off the peak extremities when squaring a sine wave. Some limiter circuits are designed to eliminate noise pulses or level off the peaks of an FM carrier prior to detection. They also are used in TV receiver circuits to separate the sync pulses from the composite video signal and are designated "sync separators" or "sync clippers."

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Signal generator Test circuits

The setup in Fig. 37A shows a parallel diode limiter circuit that clips off a portion of each peak of the applied cycle (see Oscillogram A). By careful adjustment the input sine wave can be displayed on a calibrated graticule and the amount of positive and negative peaks removed can be measured. Both peaks should be clipped equally. Although not intended as such, it offers a good test for matching a pair of diodes. Fig. 37B shows the use of two 20-volt Zener diodes back to back that conduct only during the extremities of the applied sine wave (see Oscillogram B).









# **Checking Clamp Circuits**

Clamping circuits are used to restore the DC component to an AC waveform after passing through a coupling capacitor. Two such clamping circuits are shown in Fig. 38.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

DC oscilloscope Sine-wave generator Test circuits

Connect the sine wave generator to the input of either a positive or negative clamping circuit and tune it to about 500 Hz. Adjust the sweep trace for zero reference, then connect the vertical input of the oscilloscope to the output of the clamping circuit. The DC average of an AC signal after it has passed through a coupling capacitor is zero, regardless of its amplitude. The average value of the same signal when passed through a clamping circuit will vary with the signal amplitude, generally referred to as a DC component that can be recovered when rectified. The oscillograms show both negative and positive clamps.





Positive clamp

Negative clamp



FIG. 38

World Radio History

# 39 Clamping Below Zero Reference

A triode clamping circuit is shown in Fig. 39A. The time constant of the series RC circuit is sufficiently long enough to hold the stage at cutoff during the negative portion of the input signal. In television this circuit is very popular as a sync clipper.



In some applications it is necessary to clamp the upper extremity of an input signal below zero potential. This is accomplished by the diode clamp circuit shown in Fig. 39B, in this case using a DC potential of -10 volts. A typical application might be to clamp the start of the horizontal sweep of an oscilloscope. The clamp range may be varied by adjusting the DC potential. 40

# Decreasing the Time Constant of Coupling and Its Effect



ducing C1 to .001 mfd. Notice that the leading and trailing edges are prominently displayed. These are the high-frequency components of the applied square wave. Thus a complete loss of low frequencies is obvious.

500K;

Poor low-frequency response may be due to in-

adequate coupling ca-

pacity. This fact is illustrated in the following diagrams. DIAGRAM 1 shows a square wave applied to an RC coupling circuit. Notice the undistorted output. R1—

C-.25

square wave—500 Hz. DIAGRAM 2 illustrates the effect of reducing the coupling capacitor from .25 mfd to .01 mfd. R1 remained unchanged. DIAGRAM 3 illustrates the effect of further re-

mfd;

FIG. 40

# 41

# **Detecting Hum Modulation**

Hum modulation in AC-operated radio receivers is usually referred to a "tunable hum" and is due to a 60-Hz leakage in the RF or IF circuits. In practically all cases, tunable hum is caused by filament-to-cathode leakage. In some cases the hum is intermittent, making it difficult to track down since it could be in the audio section.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope RF signal generator Test circuit

Switch the signal generator to CW and tune to a frequency at the low end of the broadcast band. Connect a test lead to the output of the generator and place it near the receiver antenna; test for the presence of the signal by switching the generator



to modulation, then return to CW. Connect the oscilloscope vertical input probe to the plate of the last IF tube. If tunable hum is present it will show up as a wavy ribbon. The sweep frequency should be synchronized at line frequency (see Oscillogram A). A condition of hum modulation in a TV receiver is shown in Oscillogram B. This waveform was observed at the output of the video detector.



FIG. 41

# Hysteresis Loop: Single Coil

When iron is subjected to a varying magnetic field, the magnetism produced in the iron lags behind the applied magnetizing force. The greater the lag the greater the hysteresis loss appearing as heat. Tests show that soft iron and annealed silicon steel offer the least resistance to magnetic variations, while hard iron and tempered steel present the greatest opposition. This is indicated by the area between the two curves in Diagram A. The oscilloscope, being an ideal curve tracing instrument, can be used to display the B/H curve.

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Variac transformer Resistor—150K; capacitor—0.1 mfd

Connect the test circuit as illustrated in Fig. 42 and adjust both horizontal and vertical gain controls to display the curve shown in the oscillogram. Vary the input voltage to observe the effect on the loop.



ANNEALED STEEL



SILICON STEEL



World Radio History

# 43 Hysteresis Loop: Transformer

Fig. 43 shows connections required for checking an iron core in both primary and secondary windings. The hysteresis loop is the same as the primary connections.



#### Step Counter Measurements

The 2-diode circuit shown in Fig. 44A delivers positive trigger pulses when a square wave is applied to the input. By reversing the diode connections the output becomes negativegoing. Replacing R1 with C1 (see Fig. 44B), and by shunting the capacitor with Zener diode D1, the circuit becomes a step counter. After rectification by V2 each leading edge is integrated by the capacitor. Step integration continues until



C2 is charged sufficiently to cause the zener diode to conduct, which in turn discharges the capacitor and the cycle of events is repeated. The oscillogram shows four integrated triggers, called a staircase; at the end of each trigger there is a relatively large pulse—one pulse for four triggers, a division of 4 to 1. To obtain sharp triggers, connect the oscilloscope vertical input across the series resistor (about 3K).

#### World Radio History

# 45 46 Transistor Amplifier Types 47 and Characteristics

Three basic transistor configurations are shown in Figs. 45, 46, 47. To facilitate these tests, the input to each stage was adjusted to show three positive peaks and two negative peaks so that phase inversion could be identified more easily. The accompanying oscillograms are self-explanatory.

Fig. 45. <u>Common-emitter amplifier</u>: the collector waveform shows voltage gain and phase inversion; i.e., three negative peaks and two positive peaks.

Fig. 46. <u>Common-base amplifier</u>: The collector waveform shows voltage gain and no phase inversion; i.e., three positive peaks and two negative peaks.

Fig. 47. <u>Common-collector amplifier</u>: The collector waveform shows a voltage gain less than one and <u>no</u> phase inversion; i.e., three positive peaks and two negative peaks.



FIG. 45







FIG. 47

# 48 Checking Audio Amplifier Overload

Here is a simple test to determine whether or not an audio amplifier is overloaded. In this test a DC oscilloscope is necessary, and there must not be any phase difference between the vertical and horizontal amplifiers.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

DC oscilloscope Audio signal generator

Connect the equipment as shown in Fig. 48 and tune the signal generator to 1 kHz at low volume. Turn up the gain control of both vertical and horizontal amplifiers and adjust each to provide a diagonal trace slanting at 45°, indicating equal traces. Slowly advance the signal generator output. If the trace begins to level off at one end it would indicate a form of overload.



However, if both ends of the trace begin to level off simultaneously, it indicates the beginning of distortion due to overload. If one end of the trace begins to level off long before the other end, this indicates a bias defect or incorrect operating voltages (see the oscillograms).



#### 49 Checking Audio Amplifier Response

Here is a simple but accurate method of determining the overall frequency response of an audio amplifier.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Audio signal generator Audio amplifier

99



Connect the signal generator output directly to the vertical input of the oscilloscope (1-kHz sweep rate) and check the audio response of both instruments before proceeding with the amplifter test. If the signal amplitude remains constant while tuning through 100 Hz to 20 kHz, check the amplifier as shown in Fig. 49 (see oscillograms). You'll notice a 10% reduction at 20 kHz, but this can be considered as a flat response over the entire audio range. With the test equipment set up, gain can be measured by using the test procedure in Fig. 34.

#### **Checking Bandpass Amplifiers**

The bandpass amplifier in a color receiver may be checked by measuring the pulses at the plate. Actually the killer pulse, which drives the amplifier into conduction, shock excites the 3.58-MHz tuned circuits and produces two damped waves for each pulse, an indication that the blanking amplifier, the killer stage and bandpass amplifiers are all in operating condition. No color signal is required for this check; in fact, this test should be conducted during a black-and-white transmission.





# 51 Color TV 3.58-MHz Oscillator Checks

In a color TV receiver the two subcarrier sidebands (R-Y and B-Y) appearing at the output of the bandpass amplifier are applied to the plate of their respective demodulators. From a locally generated 3.58-MHz crystal-controlled oscillator two subcarriers in quadrature (90°) are reinserted at each demodulator control grid. In the process the color sidebands and reinserted subcarrier are synchronized, resulting in demodulated chrominance signals.



# **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope Low-capacity probe Electronic switch (optional)

Set up the test equipment as shown in Fig. 51 and connect the electronic switch leads to the demoduators. Input A is connected to the control grid of the B-Y demodulator and input



FIG. 51





B to the control grid of the R-Y demodulator. A single probe direct from the oscilloscope could be used and transferred manually from one grid to another. Use the highest horizontal sweep rate and adjust downward until a few cycles can be observed. The oscillograms show the dual trace where the two signals can be seen in quadrature. The same test may be accomplished by using a dual trace oscilloscope.

# 52 Horizontal Blanking Pulse (Color TV)

The horizontal blanking pulse must not be confused with the horizontal retrace blanking pulse. The blanking pulse under discussion is derived from the flyback transformer and applied to the screen grid of the Y amplifier. This pulse is delayed and timed to blank out the burst signal interference that would appear on the left side of the raster as a vertical bar.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope

Check for the presence of the pulse at both the screen grid of the Y amplifier and at each CRT cathode. It should appear as a strong pulse, capable of cutting off the three beams. See the oscillograms.







₹15K

6

MFD

<sup>™</sup>

2 150 MU.H

+ 2858

HORIZ BLANKING PULSE FROM BLANKING AMPLIFIER

FIG. 52

2183922

TRI-COLOR

PICTURE TUBE

FOCUS ELECTRODE 5000 V

# 53 Checking R-Y, B-Y, and G-Y Signals

The color demodulator outputs drive three amplifiers—R-Y, B-Y, and G-Y respectively, and the amplified signals are then applied to their respective picture tube control grids.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Color bar signal generator

Set the oscilloscope sweep rate to 7875 Hz. Connect the color generator to the antenna input and switch the receiver to an





8



R-Y



B-Y



G-Y

#### World Radio History

unused channel or connect the generator R-Y, B-Y, and G-Y video output to the video input of the receiver, whichever is convenient. The color bar signals should appear at the control grid representing the signal to be observed. See Fig. 53. Oscillogram 1 is the G-Y signal and Oscillogram 2 is the R-Y signal, each obtained from a color generator in which the bars range from yellow to blue in order of their luminance. Another pattern using a generator with a different color sequence is shown in Oscillograms 3, 4, and 5.



107
# 54

# **DC** Restorer

A composite TV signal carries sync, video, sound, and a DC component for the picture brightness level. However, when the composite signal is coupled to the picture tube by a capacitor it loses its DC component and the picture will have the same average brightness regardless the brightness of the transmitted scene. The DC component appears at the output of the video detector, varying with amplitude. Therefore, if a coupling capacitor is used between the video amplifier and the picture tube, a DC restorer must be incorporated at the input to the picture tube. See Fig. 54. The loss of the DC component also will have some effect on the sync pulses.

## Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

DC oscilloscope

Check the oscilloscope for DC balance as suggested by the instrument manufacturer. Connect the oscilloscope vertical input probe to the picture tube video input terminal (usually the cathode) and tune in a TV station; set the oscilloscope sweep rate at 7875 Hz. If the 'restorer is operating correctly the sync tip level should remain stable despite the varying video amplitude. Use a picture with motion not a still one. See the oscillograms.







# Calibrating a DC Oscilloscope

DC oscilloscope calibration calls for a DC voltage source, just as anAC oscilloscope must be calibrated against a known AC voltage.

# Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

DC oscilloscope 3K potentiometer DC voltmeter



Calibration 10 Volts per square

World Radio History

Switch on the oscilloscope and allow an adequate warmup period. Adjust the horizontal positioning control until the sweep (1 kHz) is centered on the graticule. Connect the equipment as shown in Fig. 55 and adjust the potentiometer until the meter reads 20 volts. Then, adjust the vertical gain control until the sweep is two divisions above zero reference. When the vertical input leads are reversed the trace should be two divisions below zero reference. The oscilloscope is now calibrated to read 10 volts per division. For future reference label the vertical gain control with a marker.



FIG. 55

# **Electrostatic Deflection Tests**

Practically all oscilloscopes use cathode – ray tubes designed for electrostatic deflection. The tube has two pairs of deflection plates mounted on the end of the electron gun. The potential applied to the horizontal pair must be a linear sawtooth wave, usually obtained from a multivibrator that generates an asymmetrical square wave of voltage which is applied to an output stage for amplification and waveshaping. When irregularities occur in the horizontal deflection system, a systematic check must be conducted.



#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope, direct probe

The schematic diagram in Fig. 56 is a typical sawtooth output amplifier; the input is an asymmetrical square wave which is

amplified and shaped into a linear sawtooth sweep voltage by C4. The waveform at C4 is linear up to one third of the charging capacitor's time constant, which is approximately 20% of the applied voltage. Time constant is known as the period required for a capacitor to integrate 63% of the applied voltage. Hence, one third of the time constant would be about 20% of the applied wave.



### **Electromagnetic Deflection Waveforms**

The schematic diagram in Fig. 57 is a typical waveshaping circuit. The input is an asymmetrical square wave, and C4 and R4 provide the necessary time constant to produce the trapezoidal waveforms required for electromagnetic deflection. The peak-to-peak voltage and waveshape are important and should be checked when deflection troubles occur.



#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

#### Oscilloscope

Set up the oscilloscope as shown in Fig. 57. Adjust the positioning controls until the horizontal sweep is centered on the graticule. Connect the vertical input to the waveshaping amplifier plate and measure the peak-to-peak voltage and ratio of sawtooth to square wave. Voltage and waveshape should coincide with manufacturer's data. R3 controls amplifier gain, hence the amplitude of the waveform.





## 58 Vertical Oscillator Waveforms

The television receiver vertical deflection system consists of a synchronized oscillator and an output stage which drives the deflection coils. When trouble in this section exists, a check of the waveforms should be made and compared with the manufacturer's specifications.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope 10-to-1 attenuator probe

Fig. 58 shows a typical vertical deflection system. The waveform at the oscillator grid is shown in Oscillogram 1. The positive peaks indicate short-duration conduction; also notice the vertical sync pulse on the positive peaks. At position 2, Oscillogram 2 shows the charge across the coupling capacitor



during oscillator cutoff and rapid discharge during conduction. The cathode waveform (position 3 and Oscillogram 3) shows a curvature which varies with linearity control adjustment. The waveform at the plate of the output stage (position 4) appears in Oscillogram 4. Notice that the trapezoidal waveform is reversed to that of the input, indicating current conduction through the deflection coils. The thick sawtooth portion is due to induction from the horizontal coils. This is normal and does not effect vertical deflection.



FIG. 58

# 59

# Vertical Deflection Coil

To develop a sawtooth of current through a coil, the applied voltage must be a sawtooth/square-wave combination. If the coil were a pure inductance, a square-wave voltage would develop a sawtooth current. It is an established fact: to develop a sawtooth current waveform through a resistor a sawtooth waveform of voltage is necessary, but since a coil contains both inductance and resistance, the combination of both sawtooth and square wave is necessary. This waveform is often referred to as a "trapezoidal" waveform. The ratio of these two waveforms would depend upon the ratio of reactance to resistance. However, most waveforms tested have been found to be more square than sawtooth (see the oscillogram).



# **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope .25 mfd capacitor

Connect the oscilloscope as shown in Fig. 59 and adjust the sweep rate to 60 Hz to obtain the trapezoidal waveform shown in the oscillogram. Remember: In these tests the oscilloscope housing is <u>350 volts</u> above ground!





# 60

# Horizontal/Vertical Convergence Current Waveforms

The following tests indicate the presence or absence of the correct convergence waveforms in a color TV receiver.

# Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope

Insert a 10-ohm resistor in series with the convergence coil lead and connect the oscilloscope across it (see diagram). Adjust the oscilloscope sweep rate to 30 Hz. The coil current will be in phase with the voltage developed across the resistor; hence, the waveforms will represent current flowing through the coil. Notice that the waveform contains both the vertical and horizontal convergence waveforms. (Oscillograms 2 and 4 were observed when receiver was in convergence.)



# 61 Horizontal Deflection Current Waveforms

The current flowing in horizontal deflection coils is a linear sawtooth waveform. Checking the current waveform is equivalent to checking the whole deflection system, since any defect will ultimately show up in the waveform.



121

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope 10-ohm resistor

Inserta 10-ohm resistor in series with the deflection coil lead as shown in Fig. 61. Connect the oscilloscope vertical input across the resistor and adjust the sweep rate to 7875 Hz. Turn on the power and observe the waveform (see oscillogram). <u>Precaution</u>: When conducting this test it must be remembered that the oscilloscope housing is about 300 volts above ground. Take all necessary care to prevent bodily contact between the oscilloscope and receiver chassis. Inexperienced personnel should not conduct this test. Keep the power off while setting up the test.

# 62 Video Amplifier: Split Video Signal

As indicated in Fig. 62, the video amplifier distributes a number of composite signal components to various parts of the set. Notice that two samples of the video signal are distributed to the noise inverter stage: one is taken off the plate, which is inverted, and the other from the cathode which is not inverted. When servicing this section for any particular malfunction, it is a good practice to check the noise inverter control, since this is a threshold adjustment (see oscillograms).







## Procedure

#### Equipment Required:

Wideband oscilloscope, low-capacity probe

Tune in a local TV station and connect the vertical input to the plate of the video amplifier and adjust the oscilloscope to display the composite signal (sweep rate 60 Hz and 7875 Hz). Examine both vertical and horizontal sync pulses and check all distribution points. Repeat this test by connecting probe to the cathode of the video stage.

## 63 Checking Video Amplifier Gain

Without a test signal the following method may be used as a quick means of ascertaining video amplifier gain. Tune in a signal from a local TV station and compare the height of the sync pulses at the input of the amplifier to those at the output.

# Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

DC oscilloscope Low-capacity probe





Set up the test as illustrated in Fig. 63 and connect the probe to the control grid of the video amplifier. Adjust the input attenuator to X1 and set the horizontal sweep to the 10-kHz range. Tune in a local channel and adjust the fine frequency control until two horizontal pulses appear (sweep rate 7875). Ignore video program material and measure the height of the sync pulse. Turn the vertical input attenuator to X100 and connect probe to the video amplifier plate. If the height of the output pulse is equal to the input sync pulse, then the gain is 100. In the accompanying oscillograms a little more than 100-to-1 gain was experienced.



FIG. 63

# 64

# Video Amplifier: Poor Low-Frequency Response

The video amplifier is usually the distribution point of all signal components; therefore it must be stable and have a broad frequency response. The screen grid bypass capacitor, usually 4 mfds, should be suspect when low frequencies fall off. Case histories have shown that the low-frequency response is impaired when this capacitor is defective, causing uncontrollable picture roll or intermittent loss of vertical sync.





1. Normal response

 Poor low-frequency response Notice that the horizontal sync pulse is well above the 60-Hz vertical sync pulse.

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope, low-capacity probe

Tune in a local TV station. Connect the vertical input to the plate of video amplifier and adjust the sweep rate to 60 Hz.

The vertical sync pulse should appear normal and equal with horizontal sync level. If some discrepancy is observed, connect the oscilloscope probe to the screen grid. If the video signal appears at this point, it would indicate a defective filter capacitor. Even if a very small amount of the video signal appears, it has been known to cause intermittent vertical roll.



FIG. 64

World Radio History

## **Noise Inverter Circuits**

Positive noise pulses that extend above the sync tips in the composite TV signal can be troublesome if permitted to enter the sync circuits. Noise spikes have high-frequency characteristics and can cause random triggering of the horizontal sweep oscillator. In the receiver under discussion a noise inverter stage is used at the input of the first sync amplifier and AGC amplifier. (See Fig. 65.) A negative-going comnosite signal is applied to the cathode of the noise inverter stage from the cathode of the first video stage, and a positivegoing composite signal is applied to the plate of the noise inverter from the plate of the first video stage.

When the inverter grid bias is adjusted correctly by the noise threshold control, the stage will be held at cutoff when the normal peak-to-peak composite signal is applied to the cathode, thus preventing the negative-going signal from reaching the plate. However, noise pulses greater in amplitude than the sync tips will drive the cathode sufficiently negative to cause conduction. Therefore, the noise pulses are amplified and







- Noise inverter threshold control adjusted
- Control slightly beyond threshold adjustment. Note—clipped sync tips
- Control way beyond threshold note complete inversion of composite signal



appear at the plate of the inverter as strong negative pulses. The large negative plate pulses overcancel the positive noise pulses in the positive - going composite signal. In fact, the negative pulses are so strong that they actually invert the noise pulses. The positive - going composite signal with inverted noise pulses is then applied through a coupling capacitor to the grid of the first sync amplifier.

If the noise threshold control is not biasing the inverter sufficiently, the stage will have a passive function, allowing negative - going sync pulses from the cathode to appear at the plate of the inverter. Since these pulses are amplified and are negative in polarity, they will cancel, or in some cases invert, the original sync pulses. This will result in the loss of sync and excessive tearing of the picture.

# **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope

Connect an oscilloscope to the plate of the inverter stage and tune in a local channel. Turn the noise threshold control fully counterclockwise, then slowly rotate the control clockwise until it affects the positive-going sync tip. The oscillograms show normal and abnormal conditions. The pictures were taken while adjusting the noise control. In setting up the oscilloscope use external sync by clipping the external sync lead to the insulation of the horizontal yoke lead. Adjust the sweep for two horizontal sync pulses and the vertical gain for a 2-inch peak-to-peak pattern.

# 66 Checking Sweep and Marker Generators

It is advisable to make a periodic check of the sweep and marker generator with a known standard. A test setup using a 4.5-MHz IF transformer is shown in Fig. 66.

# Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope Demodulator probe (high-impedance) Sweep and marker generator 4.5-MHz IF transformer Connect the equipment as shown in Fig. 66. The shielded cable from the generator should be terminated by an appropriate resistance. Switch on the test equipment, allow a warmup period, and adjust the sweep and marker frequencies to 4.5 MHz (sweep width 2 MHz with 4.5 MHz center). The marker pip should be riding on the peak of the response curve, providing the IF transformer has been pre-set at this frequency by a crystal-controlled marker (see oscillogram).



FIG. 66

World Radio History

#### 67 Blanking Amplifier Waveforms

A typical color TV blanking amplifier circuit is shown in Fig. 67. A flyback pulse is fed to the input at position 1 and appears inverted in the plate circuit. The pulse at position 2 is applied to the screen grid of the last video stage and drives it into cutoff, thus eliminating burst signal interference. In the absence of this pulse the burst signal appears as a vertical



color stripe on the left side of the raster. The small negative pulse at position 3 is applied to the control grid of the killer stage and a positive pulse from the cathode (position 4) is applied to the color control. (See oscillograms corresponding to position numbers above.) Any slight malfunction of the blanking amplifier would effect both color and black-and-white reception.



# Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope

Each pulse should be present at the points specified above and must measure up to the manufacturer's specifications. Also, the pulse distribution points should be checked; in this case, the screen grid of the last video, the killer control grid, and the color control.

# Vertical Blanking Pulse

A strong vertical retrace blanking pulse supplied by the vertical deflection amplifier is applied to the three cathodes of the tri - color picture tube and timed to blank out the vertical retrace. Although the vertical deflection system is operating satisfactorily, the coupling circuit to the picture tube should be checked for a defective coupling capacitor when retrace lines appear. (See Fig. 68.)

# **Procedure**

#### Equipment Required:

Wideband oscilloscope, low-capacity probe

Check for the presence of the blanking pulse at the point of origin in the vertical deflection amplifier. The pulse should also appear as a strong positive pulse at each CRT cathode. As shown in the oscillograms, the pulse appears to peak well above the horizontal sync tip level. In color TV the blanking pulses have to cut off three cathode-ray beams, hence its rugged appearance.



- 1. Sync and blanking pulses synchronized
- Blanking out of sync. Notice that the vertical sync pulse is far below the horizontal sync pulse line, indicating poor low-frequency response. This is possible when using a low-capacity test probe.



FIG. 68

# 69 Checking Horizontal Phase Detector

The phase detector illustrated in Fig. 64 is an important juncture in a TV horizontal deflection system. Its purpose is to compare the timing of an integrated flyback pulse with the horizontal sync pulse. For example, when the two pulses are in step, the phase detector output voltage is zero. However, should any phase difference occur between the received sync pulses and the horizontal oscillator frequency, the phase detector transmits a correction voltage to speed up or slow down the horizontal oscillator. When trouble in the horizontal hold



is experienced, a check for the presence of the two pulses is in order.

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

#### Oscilloscope

Set up equipment as illustrated in Fig. 69. Adjust oscilloscope sweep rate to 10 kHz, and the fine frequency control to display two pulses. If both pulses are present, check their amplitudes with the manufacturer's specifications. See the oscillograms for normal waveforms.



137

# 70

# Sync Clipper

A typical sync clipper stage is shown in Fig. 70. A sample of the composite video signal is taken from the video stage and applied to the control grid of the clipper stage. In the process the sync pulses are separated from the video portion of the composite signal, and the separated sync pulses, both vertical and horizontal, are fed to their respective circuits for further processing. These circuits should be checked when horizontal and vertical sync troubles occur.







## **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

#### Oscilloscope

Set up the oscilloscope as shown in Fig. 70. Adjust the sweep rate to 30 Hz and connect vertical input probe to the clipper

control grid. Tune in a local channel and observe the composite signal (see Oscillogram 1). Connect the probe to the plate of the clipper and measure the separated vertical sync pulses (Oscillogram 2). When probing the plate of the clipper, switch the sweep rate to 7875 Hz to assure the presence of horizontal sync pulses (Oscillogram 3). Return the sweep rate to 30 Hz and connect the probe to the output of the vertical integrator; integrated vertical sync pulses should appear here (Oscillogram 4). Refer to the manufacturer's specifications for peak-to-peak values.



139

71

# Last IF Amplifier Response Curve (Solid-State)

The procedure for checking the response curve of a transistor video IF amplifier is similar to that used for a vacuum tube amplifier.

## **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope Sweep and marker generator



Connect the equipment as shown in Fig. 71 and adjust the sweep generator to the IF frequency given in manufacturer's specifications, and at a sweep width of 5 MHz. Connect the horizontal phased sweep output of the generator to the horizontal input of the oscilloscope. Attach the oscilloscope vertical input probe to the output of the video detector and align as per response curve shown in the manufacturer's alignment data. (See a typical response curve in oscillogram.) In the case of staggered-tuned circuits, each stage must be peaked as per alignment instructions. Oscillogram 1 is a compromise with that of Oscillogram 2. The center frequency dip should not exceed more than 30% of the total amplitude, despite its broader response.



FIG. 71

# 72 Last IF Amplifier Response Curve (Vacuum Tube)

When the IF section needs alignment it is a good practice to start the procedure at the last IF stage and proceed toward the mixer. It is common practice not to disturb the constants of a circuit by connecting test equipment. If a demodulator probe is used it must be a high-impedance type; therefore, it is advisable to connect the vertical input to the second detector output. See Fig. 72.

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Sweep and marker generator



Connect the sweep generator to any point in the IF section, using a small capacitor to reduce loading. A point to be remembered: When a tuned IF circuit precedes the sweep signal input point, a dip in the response curve may appear at this frequency, due to absorption. Fortunately, this can happen only at the fundamental frequency—harmonics are ruled out. In the oscillogram, notice the absorption dip caused by the tuned circuit preceding the stage being aligned. When this circuit was detuned the dip disappeared.

Connect the generator output lead to the control grid and

align the plate coil; do not attempt to align the grid coil to which you attach the output lead. A small capacitor should be in series to block the DC operating voltage associated with the amplifier, especially when connected to the plate; in this case the terminating resistor could burn out since one end of the output cable is grounded. Do not use a low-capacity probe because the response curve being observed is 60 Hz. While aligning stages that are AGC controlled, remove the AGC lead and replace with a small battery voltage, controlled by a potentiometer.



143
# 73 Overall IF Amplifier Sweep Alignment

An overall IF response curve may be obtained by introducing the alignment signal at the mixer and observing the output at the second detector. See Fig. 73.

### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope Sweep and marker generator



Connect the sweep generator output to an ungrounded shield over the mixer tube. Remember, the output cable must be terminated with an appropriate resistance, per the manufacturer's specifications; also, the cable shield must be grounded to the receiver chassis. Adjust the sweep generator to the frequency range conforming with the alignment data. If the marker is from a separate generator, connect its output to some convenient point in the IF channel prior to the second detector. Connect the vertical input of the oscilloscope to the output of the second detector and switch the station selector to an unused channel. A crystal-controlled marker generator is advisable, and is a must in color TV alignment.



FIG. 73

# 74 Sound Detector Alignment

To align the sound detector in a receiver using intercarrier sound, the sweep dial is set at 4.5 MHz. For accuracy a 4.5-MHz crystal should be used. A crystal jack is usually provided by the manufacturer.

### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope Sweep and marker generator 4.5-MHz crystal Direct probe



S curve in ideal symmetry with the markers
Incorrect S curve; left peak suppressed
Incorrect S curve; both peaks distorted

Set up equipment as shown in Fig. 74 and adjust the phasing control for a single trace. Set the sweep frequency at 4.5 MHz and adjust the sweep width to accommodate the trace. The two peaks of the S curve should be about 250 kHz apart. Align transformer T3 to provide a symmetrical S curve as illustrated.



147

#### **Keyed AGC Waveforms**

AGC provides a constant RF and IF gain within its range when switching from a strong channel to a weaker channel and under fading or varying signal conditions. To accomplish this a special stage is designed to select and sample the horizontal sync pulses. A keyed AGC stage is shown in Fig. 75. This stage is normally cutoff by AGC adjustment R2, a preset control that may need occasional readjustment.

A positive pulse initiated in the flyback transformer is applied to the plate of the AGC tube and is timed to gate the tube into conduction during horizontal retrace. A sample of the video signal is applied to the control grid and the sequence of the keying pulses causes the tube to conduct during retrace time and amplify the horizontal sync pulses applied to the control grid. The amplified pulses are then applied to the AGC filter capacitors where a DC control voltage is produced. A periodic check of this stage should be made while the chassis is being serviced.

#### **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope, direct probe

Set the sweep rate to 7875 Hz and adjust the fine frequency control to display 2 pulses, while the vertical input of the oscilloscope is connected to the plate of the AGC tube. See Oscillogram 2. Connect the probe to the control grid and check the video signal against Oscillogram 1 (sweep rate 30 cycles). Finally, connect the probe to the cathode and observe the pulses present here, an indication the stage is conducting. Do not disturb the AGC adjustment, unless the waveforms in the set do not match those shown in the oscillograms.



FIG. 75



AGC ADJUSTMENT

# 76 77 78 Horizontal Sync Systems

Horizontal sync systems vary with the type and manufacture of the receiver. Here are the three most often encountered. Fig. 76 illustrates the "synchrolock" circuit. The received sync pulse and a sample of the flyback pulse are applied to this circuit. The timing of both pulses is shown in the oscillogram for normal synchrolock action and any shift of the flyback pulse will develop a correction voltage to speed up or slow down the horizontal oscillator. Another horizontal sync



control system, called the "synchroguide," is shown in Fig. 77. The coil is adjusted (tuned) until the sine wave peaks have the same amplitude. The circuit in Fig. 78 also employs the flywheel action of a tank circuit in the horizontal multi-vibrator plate circuit, appropriately called a "stabilizing coil." Notice the position of the injected flyback pulse on the sine wave. (All the above oscillograms were taken with a sweep rate of 7875 Hz.)

World Radio History





Normal

FIG. 77



79

# Distribution of Burst and Chrominance Signals

The distribution of the luminance, chrominance, and burst signals is shown graphically in Fig. 79. The luminance signal is applied to the second video stage and supplies the brightness information to the three picture tube cathodes. When the vertical input of the oscilloscope is connected to the input and output of the second video stage, video signal amplification may be evaluated, using a standard color bar generator and an oscilloscope sweep rate of 7875 Hz.



The burst signal is applied to the color sync discriminator where it is compared in phase to the color subcarrier oscillator. The output of the discriminator then controls the reactance tube which represents a capacitive reactance across the tank circuit of the oscillator.

The chrominance signal is applied to a demodulator driver which in turn drives a pair of demodulators for the recovery of the color-difference signals. These signals are then applied to their respective amplifiers and finally to the control grids of the picture tube.

#### **Color Gating Pulse**

In a color receiver a flyback pulse is applied to the blanking amplifier (see Fig. 80). The blanker output feeds a small negative pulse to the color "killer" control grid, resulting in a positive pulse at the "killer" plate. The positive pulse is applied to the control grid of the bandpass amplifier which is gated into conduction during burst signal time. If a burst signal is present it functions as a pilot signal and passes through the bandpass amplifier where it is amplified and applied to a discriminator, rectified and filtered, resulting in a negative voltage at the killer control grid. The negative voltage causes this stage to cut off and remain in this condition during a color transmission.



## Flyback Transformer Pulse Coil Waveforms

A horizontal flyback transformer can be checked by viewing the pulse delivered by the coil, and the high voltage by a proximity test. (This test is for black-and-white receivers only.)

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope



With the receiver switched off connect the vertical input of the oscilloscope to the output lead of the pulse coil and the ground. lead to the chassis. Switch on the receiver. Set the sweep rate to 7875 Hz and adjust the fine frequency until two pulses appear. The peak-to-peak value of these pulses should conform with manufacturer's specifications. While making this test, checks should be made at the pulse distribution points.

For the proximity test, switch off the receiver and clip a plastic clothespin to the insulation on the horizontal output tube plate lead and clip the oscilloscope vertical input to the end



Illustrating the proximity test.

of the pin as illustrated in Fig. 81. The lead will be about two inches removed from the high-voltage plate lead but close enough to pick up the flyback oscillations. Do not switch on receiver until the test set up is complete, and switch off receiver after making the observation. All these precautions are given to avoid the discomfort of receiving an electrical shock. Advise all personnel accordingly. 82

#### **Color TV Alignment Notes**

Broadband RF and IF amplifier response in color receivers is of utmost importance. Although a 4-MHz video bandwidth is the accepted standard for black-and-white receivers it is seldom used. In fact, a recent check of black-and-white receivers showed that the average bandwidth of ten different makes was approximately 3.4 MHz. The IF bandwidth of a color receiver must extend to a 4.2 MHz, if proper amplification of the upper sidebands of the color subcarrier is to be achieved. It will be noted that the flat portion of the response curve extends almost to the sound carrier location.



Actually, the color subcarrier is only 920 kHz removed from the sound carrier. Also notice that the sound carrier is sharply attenuated; therefore, alignment in this region is critical. If the flat portion of the curve does not extend out far enough to include the upper subcarrier sideband, poor color reproduction will result, and in severe cases the color information will be lost entirely.

With this close bandwidth tolerance, the technician is confronted with more critical alignment problems than he experienced with black and white. For this reason the signal generator must have precise marker indications and be capable





COLOR COLOR SUBCARRIER SUBCARRIER 41.65 NO 1.58 45.0 MC 100 % 4.7 M.C 45 . 75 MC PICTURE 46.50 MC 1.5 M.C. MC SOUND PICTURE SOUND I F b ARRIER ...... a

of providing two frequencies that are only a fraction of a MHz apart, one peaking at 41.65 MHz and the other with maximum attenuation at 41.25 MHz. These frequencies must be exact and not approximate, and the sweep generator must be linear over its entire range. Should there be any doubt as to the accuracy of test equipment, color receiver alignment should not be attempted. Crystal-controlled frequencies should be used so as to keep the alignment procedure organized. The response curve in the oscillogram is inverted on the graticule; some oscilloscopes have a reversing switch, but the position of the response curve is solely the preference of the operator. (The noise in the oscillogram case was due to local conditions in the laboratory and not in the receiver.)

#### World Radio History

# 83

## **TV** Tuner Response Curves

The bandwidth of a color receiver tuner is much wider and more critical than that required in a black and white receiver. The correct tuner response curve is shown in the oscillograms in Fig. 83. A casual touch up in tuner alignment is not advisable unless the technician can observe the curve while adjusting. Also, it must be remembered that the local oscillator or mixer stage is not involved in tuner alignment procedure. However, during an overall alignment the tuner stages should be included. Be sure to disable the automatic fine tuning circuit, if used, and do not disturb tuner shielding except where absolutely required to permit access to adjustments.

### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Wideband oscilloscope Sweep and marker generator VTVM Bias supply (2v)

<u>Do</u> not attempt tuner alignment unless crystal-controlled markers are available, and then follow precisely the manufacturer's instructions. Connect the oscilloscope through an appropriate matching network to the tuner output and the sweep generator to the antenna terminals. Unless connected internally to the sweep, loosely couple the marker generator to the sweep cable. (The VTVM is used to measure the oscillator injection voltage.)





INCORRECT

INCORRECT

INCORRECT



## 84 Photoelectric Phase Control Curves

An SCR operating in conjunction with a photocell is illustrated in Fig. 84. The circuit is similar to a halfwave phase control; however, in this circuit manual control R2 has been replaced with a photoelectric cell and is now light sensitive, and the time constant of the gating circuit is varied by the amount of light striking the photocell. Shunting the photocell with a 2-watt 10K resistor will increase the sensitivity of the circuit. With this parallel resistance the discharge path will not exceed 10K; therefore, a slight change in resistance (dim light) of the photocell will reduce the time constant of the discharge path of C1 sufficiently to trigger the SCR. Then as the intensity of the light increases it will be accompanied by an increase in conduction through the load.







Medium Dark Capacitor charge and discharge waveforms

A 100-volt 10-watt lamp connected across the load and located near the photocell will further increase the sensitivity of the circuit. For example, the flame from a match held three feet from the photocell will cause the 10-watt lamp to glow sufficiently to activate the photocell still further. This, in turn, increases the brightness of the lamp. The action is cumulative until the lamp is bright enough to lock the SCR into full conduction and remain in this state until the lamp is extinguished. Many alarm devices are using this system.



## **Unijunction Transistor Tests**

Unijunction transistors are now being used in many commercial applications and will eventually require service. It is not advisable to test a unijunction transistor with an ohmmeter; therefore, a test method must be devised. Here, the oscilloscope can be of great help.

## **Procedure**

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope, direct probe

The adapter in Fig. 85 is simply a relaxation oscillator consisting of two resistors, a capacitor, and a 6-volt battery. It is actually a free-running sawtooth generator operating at a frequency determined by the time constant of R1-C1 (R1 is variable). Notice that C1 is connected between the emitter and base 1. When the capacitor charge reaches a critical



Horizontal sweep calibrated to one millisecond per square

value the unijunction transistor "fires" and the emitter conducts while the capacitor discharges rapidly through the low resistance path between the emitter and base 1. This completes one cycle of charge and discharge. Connect the oscilloscope vertical input leads across C1 and vary R1 while observing sawtooth linearity and response. If the vertical ampis calibrated, it is possible to measure the voltage required to "fire" the unit. See the oscillograms.



FIG. 85

## 86 Transistorized "RC" Circuit Checks

When the capacitor charge current is held constant in an RC circuit, the integrated voltage rises linearly. Therefore, a linear charge rate is facilitated by using a component with a constant-current characteristic. For example, a junction transistor is an ideal replacement for the fixed resistor in an RC circuit because the collector current remains constant regardless of any variation in collector voltage. As the capacitor is charging, the collector voltage is decreasing; despite this, the collector current remains constant, providing the base bias current remains fixed. See Fig. 86. The internal resistance between the collector and emitter constitutes a series resistance and, as such, becomes a major factor in the RC time constant of the charge path. A variation of the base current will vary this resistance, therefore a base



current control will serve as a "fine frequency" adjustment without changing the amplitude of the sawtooth output.

Oscillogram 3 shows the output waveform when transistor Q1 is replaced with a resistor. Oscillogram 4 is the output waveform with Q1 in the circuit. Notice the improved linearity of the sawtooth due to constant current. Oscillogram 5 is the voltage waveform across emitter resistor R2. Oscilloscope vertical sensitivity is 10 millivolts per division. The flat portion represents the constant-current charge period.



165

#### 87 Trigger Generator Waveforms

A unijunction transistor oscillator that differs somewhat from the relaxation oscillator is illustrated in Fig. 87. The difference is in the charge sequence of capacitor C1. Notice that the charge path is from the negative line via base 1, emitter, and R3 to the positive line. When power is applied the voltage distribution across the charge path is such that it develops a forward bias across the PN junction. This causes an emitter current to flow through the charge path until capacitor C1 is



C1 slow discharge



C1 rapid charge

charged. When this point is reached, the emitter current is almost zero and the capacitor discharges through R1, R2, and R3. The time constant of the charge path is relatively short. C1 charges rapidly and develops a negative trigger pulse at the junction of C1 and R3 with respect to ground. The time constant of the discharge circuit is longer and develops a sawtooth waveform at the junction of C1 and R1; during this time the emitter is cutoff. Comparing this oscillator with the relaxation type, it is interesting to note that the transistor is fired first and its emitter current charges C1. This is a reverse procedure to the relaxation scillator.



FIG. 87

# 88 Superlinear Sawtooth Generator Waveforms

A linear sawtooth generator circuit using a unijunction transistor and an NPN transistor is illustrated in Fig. 88. Q1 operates as a relaxation oscillator. The sawtooth output (emitter terminal) is connected to the base of an NPN transistor which operates as an emitter-follower buffer stage.







Original and enlarged Oscillograms show perfect linearity of sawtooth.





- Sawtooth waveform at output with C3 disconnected. Notice curvature of this waveform.
- Sawtooth waveform at output with C3 connected. Notice absence of curvature.
- 3. Incorrect adjustment of feedback control R4.

A sample of the integrator voltage is taken off at C2 and applied through R4 to load resistor R6. This provides an integrator type feedback to compensate for the loading of the output stage. Feedback control R4 is adjusted for optimum linearity, augumented by bootstrap circuit R3 and C3 which improves linearity. The waveforms shown in Oscillograms 1 and 2 illustrate a sawtooth output with the bootstrap circuit disconnected (1) and with it connected (2). Notice the decided boost in amplitude and elimination of the curvature. The bootstrap potential applied to the emitter is a differentiation voltage and is falling, while the potential applied to the base of Q2 is an integrator voltage and rising. The two combine at the emitter of Q2 (see the diagram).



169

89

#### **Pulse Delay Control Measurements**

A pulse-delay control circuit, using a monostable unijunction transistor, is illustrated in Fig. 89. The time delay is a function of capacitor C1 and the delay period is dependent upon its capacity. When power is applied, the voltage to which C1 can charge is dependent upon the voltage ratio across R1 and R2. The circuit is designed so that the voltage across the R1/C1 combination is sufficient to fire the unijunction transistor. Hence, the circuit is normally cut off.

A positive pulse of sufficient amplitude applied to the input charges C1. This boosts the voltage across the capacitor sufficiently to forward-bias the emitter and fire the transistor. When this occurs, D1 is reversed biased (cut off)



and an electron current flows from ground via base 1, the emitter junction, and R2 to the positive terminal of the supply line. This condition exists until C1 has discharged through R1 sufficiently to forward-bias diode D1, which in turn will cut off the transistor. The circuit then remains quiescent (resting) until another positive pulse appears at the input. The time delay between the input and output is determined by C1. The relationship is given in the accompanying table.

A pulse delay system has many uses, especially in color television circuitry where it is used to delay a flyback pulse in order to gate an amplifier into conduction during trace time.



Original pulse

Delayed pulse

# 90 Step Generator Waveforms

A circuit that converts a trigger generator output to a staircase wave is shown in Fig. 90. This circuit has many applications such as frequency division, control functions, etc. The negative trigger pulses applied to the base of PNP transistor Q2 drive it into periodic conduction. Capacitor C2, connected in series with the collector, stores up each pulse of collector current which appears as a distinct step of voltage at the collector terminal with respect to ground. As each pulse arrives it adds an additional step to the collector voltage, and this buildup will continue until a "staircase" pattern appears at the collector of Q2. When the voltage across C2 reaches the firing point of Q3, the unijunction transistor fires and C2 discharges, after which a repeat set of stairs takes place.

R4 varies the number of steps in each staircase cycle. For example, decreasing R4 reduces the amplitude of the trigger input to Q2, therefore more steps may be accommodated per staircase. R2 varies the frequency of the staircase cycle.



Twelve pulses from Q1 build two staircase cycles at collector of Q2 providing two pulses at output of Q3.

For example, increasing R2 extends the discharge period of C1 and reduces the number of trigger pulses. With fewer trigger pulses per second, it will take longer to build a staircase pattern. The generator may be used as a frequency divider or used to trigger another circuit at any predetermined step level. Frequency division is a feature that may be extended to additional stages similar to Q2 and Q3. It has been used in conjunction with a transistor curve tracer to produce steps of base current, thereby producing a family of curves for simultaneous observation.



FIG. 90

# 91 Tunnel Diode Oscillator Checks

Vacuum tube and transistor oscillators use a third element (the control grid of a vacuum tube or the base of a transistor), but a tunnel diode has no third element as such, rather a "quantum mechanical" tunneling of energy through the diode junction. For example, while the tuned tank circuit is oscillating, its alternating voltage appears across the diode, aiding and opposing the DC bias across it. Hence, the diode bias increases and decreases in unison with the frequency of the tuned circuit. When the diode bias decreases, it supplies additional current in accordance with its negative resistance characteristic; i.e., the lower the bias voltage the higher current.

When a bias of .125 volt is applied to the diode, a tunnel current of about .5 ma will flow. To apply this small voltage



Undistorted sinewave from tunnel diode oscillator

from a 1.5-volt battery requires a series resistance of 3000 ohms. However, the negative resistance of the diode is 100 ohms; therefore, the total series resistance is 2900 ohms. This would obviously cancel the negative resistance effect of the tunnel diode. To avoid this, the bias voltage should be developed across a resistance value that is less than the negative resistance of the diode. For example, by using a 20ohm bias resistance and connecting the diode in parallel, the combined resistance will be 80 ohms. See Fig. 91.



FIG. 91

#### 92 Full-Wave Phase Control Checks

A bi-directional silicon controlled rectifier operating with a single gate electrode is illustrated in Fig. 92. This circuit uses a GE unit called a triac. Connected in the gate circuit is a bi-directional double diode unit, called a diac, which is used to equalize the timing of the gate trigger pulses during the positive and negative halves of the applied cycle. When power is applied C1 starts to charge, and when its voltage reaches a critical value the diac conducts and triggers the triac. At this moment C1 partially discharges through the diac and the gate circuit of the triac. After this initial trigger



CONDUCTION ANGLE FOR FULL WAVE SCR

OSCILLOSCOPE CONNECTED

action the triac continues to conduct for the remainder of the half cycle. The trigger action occurs in both the positive and negative half waves of the applied cycle.

Varying R1 shifts the phase of the sine-wave voltage across C1, which in turn shifts the phase of the trigger pulse. In this manner the trigger action may be delayed or advanced, thus controlling the power applied to the load. Notice the oscilloscope is connected across the load, hence the working portion of the cycle is displayed vertically. With the oscilloscope connected across the triac the reverse is true. The

World Radio History

oscillograms show the full wave conduction angle, calibrated at  $45^{\circ}$  per division. If each half cycle shows a conduction angle of  $90^{\circ}$  at full wave the total conduction angle would be  $180^{\circ}$  (see the oscillogram representing  $180^{\circ}$ ).



FULL WAVE PHASE CONTROL

## 93 Modified Halfwave SCR Control Waveforms

An SCR circuit with smooth continuous control for loads up to 600 watts is illustrated in Fig. 93. It operates with maximum efficiency with practically no losses and may be used to control lighting, universal motor speeds, heating, and DC power supplies. During the negative half wave of the input cycle, the SCR is off and C1 charges rapidly via diode D1 and discharges via R1 and R2. However, the rate of discharge is governed by the adjustment of R2 which functions as a power output control.

When R2 is adjusted to zero ohms, the time constant of the discharge path is short and C1 charges and discharges with





Capacitor charge and discharge

the negative swing of the input cycle. When this condition prevails C1 is discharged and the gate potential is zero at the beginning of the positive half wave. This causes the SCR to conduct during the positive swing of the input cycle, (conduction angle 180°) which delivers maximum power to the load (see Oscillogram 1). Gradually increasing R2 increases the time constant, delays the discharge of C1, and the gate potential is held negative for a longer period. When this condition prevails a portion of the positive half wave is used to overcome this effect and the SCR conducts for less than  $180^{\circ}$ ,



FIG. 93
thereby reducing the power delivered to the load. Oscillogram 2 shows a delay of one division or  $60^{\circ}$ . In Oscillogram 3 the delay is three divisions or  $180^{\circ}$ ; i.e., no conduction. When R2 is adjusted to maximum (10K) the discharge time constant is very long and the SCR remains off. Therefore, when R2 is adjusted from maximum to minimum it provides a smooth control of power output from zero to maximum, thus representing a conduction angle variation from 0 to  $180^{\circ}$ . Notice in Oscillogram 1 that the half cycle engages three divisions and is delayed for an additional three divisions in Oscillogram 3. In Oscillogram 3 the positive half wave has been completely shut off. In Oscillograms 1 and 2 the flat portion of the trace indicates SCR conduction.

#### 94 Triangular Wave Generator Tests

Square waves and sine waves are employed in various applications, separately or combined, in modern electronics. However, the triangular waveform (back-to-back sawtooth) has come into prominence and is often used in sweep operation, timing circuits, and numerous other uses. Fig. 94 illustrates the circuit used to generate a triangular waveform of exceptional linearity with a constant amplitude, regardless of frequency. The linear rise and fall of the waveform provides an excellent means for observing distortion and is far more effective than the sine-wave test, since any irregularity is easily detected. The adjustment of R in the emitter circuit determines the frequency, while the amplitude is held constant by the precise firing time of the transistor.





# 95 Tunnel Diode Multivibrator Waveforms

When power is applied to the multivibrator circuit in Fig. 95 C1 begins to charge through R2 and R3, developing a bias voltage across the tunnel diode. (C1 is connected across R1 and the tunnel diode.) When the capacitor voltage rises above zero, a current will flow through the tunnel diode and R1. When the diode current reaches peak value, the diode switches from a high-current, low-voltage state (low impedance) to a low-current, high-voltage state. This occurs in the negative resistance region of the curve. See diagrams A and B. The switch from a low to a high impedance diverts the current flow through the emitter-base junction of the transistor, and in turn causes this stage to conduct.

Simultaneously, the capacitor discharges through the conducting transistor and R2. During the discharge of the capacitor, the voltage across the tunnel diode decreases and the diode returns to its low-impedance state. This, in turn, diverts the emitter-base current allowing the transistor to go into cutoff. The capacitor starts to recharge and the cycle of events is repeated. Notice that it is the charge and discharge of C1 that causes the tunnel diode to gate the transistor on and off. The repetition rate of the square wave is dependent upon the RC time constants of the charge and discharge paths of the capacitor. Actually when the tunnel diode is in its lowimpedance state it short circuits the base-emitter junction of the transistor and causes this stage to cut off.





### Transistorized Phase Shift Circuit Measurements

The one-transistor circuit in Fig. 96 functions as a phaseshift circuit. Notice that the collector and emitter resistors are equal, hence the stage has near unity gain, making the circuit equivalent to a 1-to-1 transformer. The amount of phase shift obtained at the output network is determined by the applied frequency and the values of R5 and C2. The circuit shown is capable of producing a phase shift from zero to  $180^{\circ}$  by varying R5. For example, a 50K potentiometer will vary the phase a full  $180^{\circ}$ . Since the stage has a paraphase amplifier characteristic, the input signal is inverted  $180^{\circ}$  at the collector terminal and no phase shift is introduced at the emitter.



#### Procedure

Set up the test as shown in Fig. 96. Connect the oscilloscope external sync terminal to the amplifier input terminal and switch the sync selector to the "ext sync" position. (This lead should remain connected during the test.) Adjust the horizontal sweep so that a single cycle engages 8 divisions, which is 450 per division (see oscillograms). Use a 50K potentiometer in place of R5 and notice the waveform shift when this control is varied. The phase shift comparision may be observed by connecting the vertical input probe to the input and then to the output.



FIG. 96



#### Sine-to-Square Wave Converter Waveforms

The circuit in Fig. 97, equivalent to a two-stage Schmitt trigger, efficiently converts sine waves to square waves.

#### Procedure

#### **Equipment Required:**

Oscilloscope, AC and DC amplifiers Audio signal generator Carbon resistor—10K



Connect the test as shown in Fig. 97 and adjust the oscilloscope to display a 3-cycle pattern (see Oscillogram 1). Connect the generator output to the transistor input and the transistor output to the vertical input. Observe the clipped positive peaks in Oscillogram 2. During negative peaks the NPN transistor is cut off and provides the flat top of the output wave. See Oscillogram 3. The 10K resistor connected in series with the base lead is used to prevent clamping action due to the diode effect of the base-emitter junction and the output circuit of the signal generator. To observe this effect connect the vertical input of the oscilloscope to the base terminal and short-circuit the 10K resistor(see Oscillogram 4).









#### **Cascode Multivibrator Checks**

In a cascoded type multivibrator, two stages are connected in series across the power supply. A study of the circuit shown in Fig. 98 would seem to indicate that such an arrangement would rule out its use as a multivibrator since one stage has to cut off while the other is conducting, and a series arrangement would make this impossible. A further study reveals how it oscillates as a free-running multivibrator.

When power is applied, C1 and C2 charge rapidly, and the collector voltage of Q2 charges C3 via the base-emitter junction of Q2. This charge current constitutes a forward-bias current through the base of Q2 and causes the stage to conduct.



Waveform at the base of Q2 Waveform at the collector of Q2

This, in turn, causes the collector voltage of Q2 to drop and C4 to discharge through R3 and R4. The drop across R4 is positive at the base of Q1, causing this stage to cut off. Now, Q1 is cut off and Q2 is conducting. When this condition occurs, the collector current of Q2 is supplied by capacitor C2. When C4 has discharged sufficiently, Q1 comes out of cutoff and conducts. This causes its collector voltage to drop and, in turn, discharges C3. The discharge current of C3 flows through R1 and develops a positive voltage at the base of Q2, causing this stage to cut off. When C3 has discharged sufficiently, Q2 conducts and the cycle of events is repeated. (The waveforms at Q1's base and collector are the same.)



#### Series-Connected Schmitt Trigger Tests

The conventional Schmitt trigger circuit always has one stage conducting despite the on or off state of the circuit. The new Schmitt trigger circuit shown in Fig. 99 uses fewer parts. And when the circuit idles, both stages are cut off.

#### Procedure

Transistor Q1 is an NPN and Q2 is a PNP. When the input sine wave from the generator is zero, Q1 and Q2 are cut off. This condition exists until the input voltage rises above zero and forward biases the base of Q1. When this occurs, the collector current of Q1 develops a voltage drop across R2, which forward biases Q2 and drives this stage into conduction.



As the input voltage to Q1 increases, both transistors saturate. Notice the collector output of Q2 is connected to the input of Q1. This unique arrangement causes both transistors to saturate and cut off simultanously to produce a square wave with steep leading and trailing edges at a repetition rate corresponding to Q1's input frequency. During the negative swing of the input cycle, the whole circuit remains in an off condition. When Q2 is removed, the positive half cycle reverts to its original shape.



FIG. 99



•

World Radio History

# Other Cor TAB BOOKS of Interest

	_
BRAND NEW BUDKS-JUST PUBLISHED!	
Practical Solid-State DC Power Supplies 196 p 151 il	\$6 9
Uproelectronics Guidebook-with tested projects 191 p	\$5 9
How To Make Your Own Rull In Euroiture 326 n. 758 d	\$7.9
Transistor lonition Systems 252 n 162 d	30 %
Ty Lighting Handbook 226 n 261 d	30 9
Building Model Ships From Scratch 378 o 84 il	\$12 9
How To Make News & Influence People, 140 n	\$3.0
Homeowner's Handy 'Do-h' Manual 280 o 84 il	\$7.0
How to Repair Home Kilchen Appliances 294 p 205 1	\$5.9
Fun With Electronics 140 p 88 il	\$3 9
How to Hear & Speak CB in a Short Short 172 p. 85	\$3.50
The Complete Handbook of Model Railroading 350 p 238 il	\$6
Talk Back TV Two Way Cable Television 238 p 64 i	\$5 9
1 of orstanding Use Modern Signal Generators 294 p	\$6.95
16 Free Electronic Prois Bridde Pasimes 336 p 80 il	\$6 9.
to be the dere Electronic Serv. Test Fast 252 - 1224	\$5.9:
M thematics lipraveled- New Commons and Approach	\$5 95
Master Tube Substitution Handbook 322 n 548 d	30 92
Mudern Guide to Digital Logic 294 n 222 il	34 90
VHFUHF Fire, Police, Ham Scanners Man. 250 n. 114 il	56 95
OP AMP Circuit Design & Applications 280 p 239 il	56 95
Master Handbook of Dugital Logic Applications 392 p. 287 if	\$7 95
CET License Handbook 2nd ed 448 p 381 il	\$8.95
The Electronic Musical Instrument Manual 210 p 385 il	\$6 95
Microprocessor Microprograming Handbook 294 p 176	\$6 95
Sourcebook of Electronic Organ Circuits 168 p 101 1	\$4 95
build Your Uwn Working Robal 238 p 83 il	\$5 95
Liber's Handybook of Simple Hobdy Projects 166 p 114 it	\$3.95
How to Report Home Laundry And es 1920 114 II	\$5.95
Pilote Pireter With the Perhat Calculater 100 - 020 /	\$5 95
HORNY ELECTRONICE	58 95
INUMBER CLEUTINUMICS	
How to Head Electronic Circuit Diagrams 192 p 148 il	54 95
Para Flag transistor Hadios Fou Can Build 140 p 122 il	\$3.95
Badio Control for Models 250 - 412 1	\$5 95
MUSEFT Circuit Guidebook 106 a 104 d	30 95
Fractical Executi Design in the Experimenter 196 p. 1.0.1	54 05
111 Diudai & tim er if Pro e is 1 o 1 it	55 05
Rabio Astronomy lor the Amaleur 252 o 96 1	\$5 95
Build It Book of Mini Test Measurement Instr. 238 n. 151 il	54 95
RF & Digital Test Equipment You Can Build 252 p 217 il	\$5 95
Miniature Projects For Electronic Hobbyists 168 p. 77 il	\$3 95
Practical Triac SCR Projects For The Exp. 192 p. 146 il	\$4 95
Integrated Circuits Guidebook 196 p. 119 il	\$5 95
Solid State Circuits Guidebook 252 p 227 il	\$5 95
rectronics for Shutterbugs 204 p 109 if	\$5 95
Practical rest instruments rou Can Build 204 p 1571	54 95
Padio Electronics Hobby Projects 102 a 214 d	3 95
Handbook of IC Curcuit Projects 192 p 214 11	91 93
Solid State Projects for the Experimentar 224 n 228	4 90
Electronic Experimenter's Guidebook 182 n. Shall	4 95
125 One Transistor Projects 192 p 125 (	54 95
104 Easy Projects for Electronic Gadgetners 168 n 105 it	54 95
64 Hobby Projects for Home & Car 192 p 159 h	\$4 95
AUDIO, HI-FI & ELECTROMIC MUSIC	
Electronic Music Circuit Guidebook 224 p 180 il	\$6 95
Questions & Answers About Tape Recording 264 p 102 il	\$5 95
Handbonk of Multichannel Recording 322 p . 196 il	\$7 95
Auto Stereo Service & Installation 252 p 245 il	\$5 95
Servicing Casselle & Cartridge Tape Players 294 p 196 il	\$6 95
Electronic Music Production 156 p. 79 il	\$3 95
Experimenting with Electronic Music 180 p 103 il	\$4 95
Lassene rape recorders now work Lare repair 204 p	34 95
Performance Formance Studio 224 p 108 H	30 95
How to Repair Musical Instrument Amplifiant 200 p 520 m	34 90
Jananese Badio Record Tane Player Scice Macual 228 a	30 93
Servicing Electronic Droans 196 n 158 d	87 05
Tape Recording for Fun & Profit 224 p. over 200 il	
ALL-IN-ONE COLOR & BAW TV SCHEMATIC/LEGVICING MANUAL	\$5 95
ach vol has complete service data narts lists is	\$5 95
the still and all all all and and and for the state of	\$5 95 \$
CREMATICS and all other into record Pace at , 11 19	\$5 95 \$ ff-size
ach only \$5.95 unless marked COLOR TV Adm. Vol 1 (	\$5 95 S Iff-size Upps Vot
ach only \$5.95 unless marked COLOR TV Adm. Vol.1 ( \$.95 GE Vol. 1 OVel. 2 OVel 3 OJao Vol. 1 \$7.95 (	S 95 S In-size In pps Vol. 2 IVol. 2
Chemistics and all other into headed, Each of	SS 95 S In-size In pps Vol. 2 IVol. 2
Crementics, and all other into needed, Each av., 11, 15 ach only \$5 95 unless marked. COLOR TV Adm. Vol. 10 \$505 GE Vol. 10, Vel. 2, DVel 3, DJap, Vol. 137,155 4, V5 DVol. 3, S4,95 DVol. 4, DVol. 5, DMagnavoz Vol. 1944, 2, Vol. 3, DArline, DMolorota Vol. 1, 54,55	\$5 95 \$ Iff-size h pps Vol. 1Vol. 1 \$4.90 Vol.
Created as and an other into neorable tack of , 11 is ach only \$55 binless marked COLOR TV Adm. Vol. 1 \$56 GE Vol. 1 ⊇ Vol. 2 ⊇ Vol. 3 ⊒ Japp. Vol. 1 \$7,95 4 x5 ⊇Vol. 3 4 x5 ⊇ Vol. 4 ⊒ Vol. 5 ∭agaawor Vol. 2 Vol. 2 ⊇Vol. 3 ⊒ Athine Motorota Vol. 1 \$4,95 ⊇Philco ⊒ RCA Vol. 1 ⊒ Vol. 2 ⊇Vol. 3 ⊒ Vol. 4 ⊒Vol. 5 ⊡	SS 95 S Int-size In pps Vol. 2 Vol. 2 Vol. 2 Vol. 2 Search
Created as and an other into neologic safe 5°, 1° is schoniy SS 55 unless marked. COLOR TV Adm, Vol. 1 ( \$ 56 GE Vol. 1 () Vol. 2 () Vol. 3 () Jap. Vol. 1 57,55 () 4 45 () Vol. 3 3.4,55 () Vol. 4 () Vol. 5 () Magaarwor Vol. 1 Vol. 2 () Vol. 3 () Atrihae () Motorota Vol. 1 34,65 () Saferr, Moduliar, Rec. 7, Vol. 1 56,55 () Vol. 2 44,55 () 3 VI	S 95 S In-size In pps Vol. 2 Vol. 2 Sears Vol. 1
Created as and an other into neodo tach of , 11 is ach only \$5 55 unless marked. COLOR TV Adm. No.1 1 \$56 GE Vol. 1 ∪ Vel. 2 Vel 3 ∪ Jap. Vol. 1 \$7,55 G 4 V5 ∪ Vol. 3 & 4,95 Uvl. 4 ∪ Vol. 5 ∩ Magnavoz Vel. Vol. 2 ∪ Vol. 3 ∪ Aline Motoroto Vol. 1 \$4,65 ⊡Antico RCA Vol. 1 ∪ Vol. 2 ∪ Vol. 3 ∪ Vol. 4 ∪ Vol. 5 Barv. Modelwire Rec. V. 01 1 \$5 55 ∪ Vol. 2 \$4,55 0 \$V1 Uvol. 2 ∪ Toshiba Zenih Vol. 1 ⊂ Vol. 2 ∪ Vol. 3	SS 95 S Infi-size h pps Vot SA 95 Vot Search Vot I Vot I Vot I Vot I Vot
Creating and an other into neoded take 5°, 11 is ach only \$5 50 unless marked COLOR TV Adm, Vol 11 \$55 GE Vol. 1 Uvi. 2 Vol 3 Jape Vol 157,55 455 Vol 3 JAPS Uvi. 4 Uvi. 5 Magaavor Vol. 1Vol. 2 Vol 3 JAriha Mathematica Vol. 1 \$4,55 Philos PRA Vol 1 Vol 2 Vol 3 Vol. 4 90 JS DServ Moduler Rect. Vol 1 \$6 55 Uvi. 2 \$4,55 Syl Vol. 2 Toshiba Zentih Vol. 1 Vol 2 Vol 3 JS B&W TV Adm \$7,95 GE \$7,85 Jap \$6 55 Short Administration Debut \$14 55 Debut States States Part Administration Debut \$14 55 Debut States States Part Administration Debut \$14 55 Debut States Part Administration	SS 95 S In-size h pps Vol. 1 Search Vol. 2 Search Vol. 4 S4 95

DO IT YOURSELF, AUTOMOTIVE & APPLIANCES	
Homeowner's Guide to Saving Energy 196 p. 183 (i	\$5 95
Customizing Your Van 192 p. 150 il	53 95
The Woodworker's Bible 434 p 1151 il	\$5 95
Motorcycle Repair Handbook 392 p 260 il	\$6.95
The Complete Handbook of Locks & Locksmithing 39 n	\$5 95
Step By Step Guide Carburetor Tuneup Dverhaut 226 n	54 05
Homenumer's Guide To Solar Heating & Cooling 196 a	CA 05
Do il Yourseller s Gude Home Planning Coarte 238 a	54 05
Sten By Sten Guide to Brake Servicion 238 o 248 1	54 OF
Step By Step Guide Chorster Fon Maint Bor 256 n 195 l	34 90
Subcoolized Your Nouse Bide Remodels 105 - 57	AU 90
Auto Electronics Simulified 255 - 202 J	34 90
The Complete Auto Slandnick Mandhack, 210 - 123 -	30 90
Constate & Masson, 202 n. 212 J	25 30
Home Appliance Class Costals 7 and March 10	22 92
nome Appliance Clinic Controls Timers Wiring Wor 1951	54 95
Practical Home Constr Carpentry Hobk 448 p 1801	\$5 95
How to Hepair Diesel Engines 308 p 237 il	15 95
Central Heating & Air Cond Repair Guide 320 p 285 if	SE 55
Small Appliance Repair Guide - Vol. 2, 210 p. 119 i	\$4 85
Electrical Wiring Lighting For Home Office 204 p 155 il	\$4 95
How to Repair Small Gasoline Engines, 2nd Edit, 392 p	\$6 95
How to Repair Home Auto Air Cond. 208 p. over 100 i	\$4 95
CR. COMMINICATIONS & HAM RADIO	
CB Schematic Sycing Manuals each 200 H \$5 96 Lify	of 1 Rais
Browning My gain Penney's LJ Vol 2 Teaberry Uni	metrics
Pearce-Simpson Siltroniz [] Vol 3 E F Johnson SBI	-Linear
Sonar Royce. 1Vol 4 Pace Fanon Courier	
2nd Class FCC Encyclopedia 602 p 445 ii	\$7 95
The Complete Shortwave Listeney's Hight 788-0 101-1	\$6 95
CB Radio Operator & Guide- 2nd ed 256 n 139 il	\$5.95
Redenal Cuide to CB Radio Install Repair 255 - 206-1	86.05
Protonal Guide to CB nadio Instant nepatr 250.9 504 1	20 30
Practical Lo Hadio Troubleshooting & Hepatr 238 p 108 it	20 95
The Lompiele PM 2 way Hadio Handbook 294 p 111 il	\$6 95
Amateur FNI Conversion & Construction Projs 256 p 187 it	\$5 95
Broadcast Anne r 3rd Class FCC Study Guide 168 p 9 1	\$3 95
How To Be A Ham-Including Latest FCC Rule . 192 p 25 1	\$3 95
Commercial FCC License Handbook 444 p 1 0 il	\$5 95
The 2 Meter FM Repeater Circuits Handbook 312 p 94 in	\$6.95
RTTY Handbook 320 p 230 il	\$6 95
Citizens Rand Radio Service Manual 278 n. Ball	\$5.05
AMATELIA BADIO STUDY CHIESE LINGUAS TO OF COM	
Advanced \$5.05 Entra \$5.05 Linearty \$4.05	m 31 31
Hossince an an Emila an April Indemilas he an	
RADIO & TV SERVICING	
Color TV Trouble Factbh-Problems Solutions 3rd ed 434 n	\$5 95
Solid State Color TV Photo Symptom Guide 224 p. 169 il	\$5 95
Beginner's Guide to TV Benair 176 n 56 H	\$4 05
Troubleshooting With the Dust Trace Score 214 4 252 4	ES OF
TV Imubleshorter s Handbook - 3rd ed Adl o over 20 d	54 05
Color TV Case Mistones Illustrated 228 - 216 H	54 93
TV Schempton Rend Returned the Lines 252 - 180.0	30 30
Louisel Color Di Tepublicabantina 240 - 541	30 90
Cogical Color 14 troubleshooting Zeu p. 151 H	33 95
To bench Servicing recondues 2280 1771	34 95
modern Hadio Hepair Lechniques 200 p 36 F	34 95
now to interpret IV Waveforms 256 p 250 il.	54 95
All In-One TV Alignment Handbook 304 p. 14b ti	\$5 95
TV Tuner Schematic Servicing Manual 224 p 287 il	\$6.95
199 Color TV Troubles & Solutions 224 g 178 il	\$4 95
Now to Use Color TV Test Instruments 256 a 230 d	\$5 95
Home Call TV Repair Guide 144 p 20 ti	\$3 95
Proport TV Troubles in 10 Minutes 327 n 394 il	\$5.95
ELECTHORICS TECHNOLOGYCOMPUTENSCALI ULATOUS	
Modern Electronics Math. 686 p. 424 il	\$9.95
Master Hobi of 1001 Prac Electronic Circ 602 p 1250	53 94
Impedance 196 p. 90 il	55 14
Intro to Medical Electronics 2nd ed 320 p 126 if	\$1.95
Computer Programming Handbook 518 g 114 if	58 95
Computer Technician's Handbook 480 p. over 400 il	58 95
Microelectronics 266 p 228 il	\$5 65
Masic Dinital Electronics 210 n 117 il	54 05
Sustehing Regulators & Power Supplier 252 a 129 if	FE BE
Advanced Anglications for Porter Calculation 204	90 30
Toward a International Transister Selector 148 - 12	NO 90
Finderane Conversions Symbols & Energies 10 1	14 93
Effective Templeshoots Sympols & Formulas 224 p 252 H	\$4 95
chective troubleshooting with EVM & Scope 238 p 185 il	\$5 95
Genting the Most Out of Electronic Calculators 204 p 28 th	54 95
Aviation Electronics Handbook 406 p 227 il	\$8 95
How to Test Almost Everything Electronic 160 (1 144 1	\$2 95
Digital Logic Electronics Handbook 308 p. 22t il	50 95
Modern Applications of Linear IC's 276 p 307.1	19 35
10-Minute Test Techniques For PC Servicing 2 h.c. 1.4.1	50 85
Electr Unraveled-New Commonsense Anomarh 225 a	SA CS
How To Isboot Benau Flactman Tar East 252 - 142.1	SE 06
Anderstanding & lising the Desiling and 272 - 1431	50 30
Adjustical Electronics, Principles & Principles & Principles	30 30
the sector creen once rincipies a riariice 410 p 380 il	20 95
literionany of Electronics 420 e 487.1	

